

Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation (Review)

Risom SS, Zwisler AD, Johansen PP, Sibilitz KL, Lindschou J, Gluud C, Taylor RS, Svendsen JH, Berg SK

Risom SS, Zwisler AD, Johansen PP, Sibilitz KL, Lindschou J, Gluud C, Taylor RS, Svendsen JH, Berg SK. Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2017, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD011197. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011197.pub2.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FOR THE MAIN COMPARISON	4
BACKGROUND	7
OBJECTIVES	9
METHODS	9
Figure 1	11
RESULTS	14
Figure 2	16
Figure 3	18
Figure 4	19
Figure 5	20
Figure 6	21
Figure 7	23
Figure 8	24
DISCUSSION	25
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	27
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	27
REFERENCES	28
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	33
DATA AND ANALYSES	47
Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1 Exercise versus no exercise. Outcome 1 Mortality.	48
Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1 Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 2 Mortality (worst-best case scenario).	49
Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1 Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 3 Mortality (best-worst case scenario).	50
Analysis 1.4. Comparison 1 Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 4 Serious adverse events.	51
Analysis 1.5. Comparison 1 Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 5 Serious adverse events (worst-best case scenario).	52
Analysis 1.6. Comparison 1 Exercise versus no exercise. Outcome 6 Serious adverse events (best-worst case scenario).	53
Analysis 1.7. Comparison 1 Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 7 Ouality of life, SF-36, Physical Component Score.	54
Analysis 1.8. Comparison 1 Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 8 Quality of life, SF-36, Mental Component Score.	54
Analysis 1.9. Comparison 1 Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 9 Quality of Life, SF-36, Physical Function,	55
Analysis 1.10. Comparison 1 Exercise versus no exercise. Outcome 10 Quality of Life, SF-36. Role-Physical.	56
Analysis 1.11. Comparison 1 Exercise versus no exercise. Outcome 11 Quality of Life. SE-36. Bodily Pain	56
Analysis 1.12. Comparison 1 Exercise versus no exercise. Outcome 12 Quality of Life, SF-36. General Health	57
Analysis 1.13. Comparison 1 Exercise versus no exercise. Outcome 12 Quality of Life, SF-36. Vitality	58
Analysis 1.14. Comparison 1 Exercise versus no exercise. Outcome 14 Quality of Life, SF-36. Social Functioning.	59
Analysis 1.15. Comparison 1 Exercise versus no exercise. Outcome 15 Quality of Life, SF-36. Role Emotional	60
Analysis 1.16. Comparison 1 Exercise versus no exercise. Outcome 16 Quality of Life. SF-36. Mental Health	61
Analysis 1.17 Comparison 1 Exercise versus no exercise. Outcome 17 Exercise canacity (VO2 neak)	61
Analysis 1.17. Comparison 1 Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 17 Exercise capacity (OMWT)	62
Analysis 1.10. Comparison 1 Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 10 Exercise capacity (SMD)	63
ADDITIONAL TABLES	63
APPENDICES	64
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	78
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	78
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	78
DIFFERENCES RETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW	78
INDEX TERMS	78
······································	, 0

[Intervention Review]

Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Signe S Risom^{1,2}, Ann-Dorthe Zwisler¹, Pernille P Johansen^{1,3}, Kirstine L Sibilitz¹, Jane Lindschou⁴, Christian Gluud⁵, Rod S Taylor ^{6,7}, Jesper H Svendsen^{1,8}, Selina K Berg^{1,7,9,10}

¹Department of Cardiology, The Heart Centre, Copenhagen University Hospital, Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark. ²Faculty of Health and Technology, Metropolitan University College, Copenhagen, Denmark. ³Department of Cardiology, Copenhagen University Hospital Bispebjerg, Copenhagen, Denmark. ⁴Copenhagen Trial Unit, Centre for Clinical Intervention Research, Department 7812, Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark. ⁵The Cochrane Hepato-Biliary Group, Copenhagen Trial Unit, Centre for Clinical Intervention Research, Department 7812, Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark. ⁵The Cochrane Hepato-Biliary Group, Copenhagen, Trial Unit, Centre for Clinical Intervention Research, Department 7812, Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark. ⁶Institute of Health Research, University of Exeter Medical School, Exeter, UK. ⁷National Institute of Public Health, University of Southern Denmark, Copenhagen, Denmark. ⁸The Danish National Research Foundation Centre for Cardiac Arrhythmia (DARC), Copenhagen, Denmark. ⁹Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, Copenhagen University, Copenhagen, Denmark. ¹⁰University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark

Contact address: Signe S Risom, Department of Cardiology, The Heart Centre, Copenhagen University Hospital, Rigshospitalet, Blegdamsvej 9, Copenhagen, 2100, Denmark. signe.stelling.risom@rh.regionh.dk.

Editorial group: Cochrane Heart Group. **Publication status and date:** New, published in Issue 2, 2017.

Citation: Risom SS, Zwisler AD, Johansen PP, Sibilitz KL, Lindschou J, Gluud C, Taylor RS, Svendsen JH, Berg SK. Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2017, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD011197. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011197.pub2.

Copyright © 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation may benefit adults with atrial fibrillation or those who had been treated for atrial fibrillation. Atrial fibrillation is caused by multiple micro re-entry circuits within the atrial tissue, which result in chaotic rapid activity in the atria.

Objectives

To assess the benefits and harms of exercise-based rehabilitation programmes, alone or with another intervention, compared with noexercise training controls in adults who currently have AF, or have been treated for AF.

Search methods

We searched the following electronic databases; CENTRAL and the Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effectiveness (DARE) in the Cochrane Library, MEDLINE Ovid, Embase Ovid, PsycINFO Ovid, Web of Science Core Collection Thomson Reuters, CINAHL EBSCO, LILACS Bireme, and three clinical trial registers on 14 July 2016. We also checked the bibliographies of relevant systematic reviews identified by the searches. We imposed no language restrictions.

Selection criteria

We included randomised controlled trials (RCT) that investigated exercise-based interventions compared with any type of no-exercise control. We included trials that included adults aged 18 years or older with atrial fibrillation, or post-treatment for atrial fibrillation.

Data collection and analysis

Two authors independently extracted data. We assessed the risk of bias using the domains outlined in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions*. We assessed clinical and statistical heterogeneity by visual inspection of the forest plots, and by using standard Chi² and I² statistics. We performed meta-analyses using fixed-effect and random-effects models; we used standardised mean differences where different scales were used for the same outcome. We assessed the risk of random errors with trial sequential analysis (TSA) and used the GRADE methodology to rate the quality of evidence, reporting it in the 'Summary of findings' table.

Main results

We included six RCTs with a total of 421 patients with various types of atrial fibrillation. All trials were conducted between 2006 and 2016, and had short follow-up (eight weeks to six months). Risks of bias ranged from high risk to low risk. The exercise-based programmes in four trials consisted of both aerobic exercise and resistance training, in one trial consisted of Qi-gong (slow and graceful movements), and in another trial, consisted of inspiratory muscle training.

For mortality, very low-quality evidence from six trials suggested no clear difference in deaths between the exercise and no-exercise groups (relative risk (RR) 1.00, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.06 to 15.78; participants = 421; $I^2 = 0\%$; deaths = 2). Very low-quality evidence from five trials suggested no clear difference between groups for serious adverse events (RR 1.01, 95% CI 0.98 to 1.05; participants = 381; $I^2 = 0\%$; events = 8). Low-quality evidence from two trials suggested no clear difference in health-related quality of life for the Short Form-36 (SF-36) physical component summary measure (mean difference (MD) 1.96, 95% CI -2.50 to 6.42; participants = 224; $I^2 = 69\%$), or the SF-36 mental component summary measure (MD 1.99, 95% CI -0.48 to 4.46; participants = 224; $I^2 = 0\%$). Exercise capacity was assessed by cumulated work, or maximal power (Watt), obtained by cycle ergometer, or by six minute walking test, or ergospirometry testing measuring VO2 peak. We found moderate-quality evidence from two studies that exercise-based rehabilitation increased exercise capacity, measured by VO2 peak, more than no exercise (MD 3.76, 95% CI 1.37 to 6.15; participants = 208; $I^2 = 0\%$); and very low-quality evidence from four studies that exercise-based rehabilitation increased exercise capacity more than no exercise, measured by the six-minute walking test (MD 75.76, 95% CI 14.00 to 137.53; participants = 272; $I^2 = 85\%$). When we combined the different assessment tools for exercise capacity, we found very low-quality evidence from six trials that exercise-based rehabilitation increased exercise capacity more than no exercise (standardised mean difference (SMD) 0.86, 95% CI 0.46 to 1.26; participants = 359; $I^2 = 65\%$). Overall, the quality of the evidence for the outcomes ranged from moderate to very-low.

Authors' conclusions

Due to few randomised patients and outcomes, we could not evaluate the real impact of exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation on mortality or serious adverse events. The evidence showed no clinically relevant effect on health-related quality of life. Pooled data showed a positive effect on the surrogate outcome of physical exercise capacity, but due to the low number of patients and the moderate to very low-quality of the underpinning evidence, we could not be certain of the magnitude of the effect. Future high-quality randomised trials are needed to assess the benefits and harms of exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation on patient-relevant outcomes.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for patients with atrial fibrillation

Background

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is the most common irregular heart beat a person can experience. It affects the heart by 'taking over' and sending out electric pulses that makes the heartbeat irregular and inefficient. Symptoms can include irregular heartbeat, shortness of breath, weakness, dizziness, and fainting. Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation aims to restore health in people with atrial fibrillation or those who have been treated for atrial fibrillation, through regular exercise.

Review question

This systematic review assessed the benefits and harms of exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation in adults with atrial fibrillation.

Study characteristics

We included six randomised trials with a total of 421 participants. The evidence is current to July 2016.

Key results

There were two deaths and eight serious adverse events (harmful side effects) reported in the six trials, therefore, we had insufficient data to conclude whether exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation improved outcomes that matter the most to patients, such as death and serious adverse events (e.g. hospitalisation). Exercise-based rehabilitation was not found to have a clinically relevant impact on quality of life for the patient group, but may increase exercise capacity.

Quality of the evidence

The quality of the evidence ranged from moderate to very low for all outcomes. It was possible for people in the trials to know to which intervention group they were randomised, the reporting of the results was not complete in many trials, and for some outcomes, the results varied across trials. These considerations limit our confidence in the overall results of the review.

Conclusions

Further randomised clinical trials that are conducted with low risks of bias and low risks of the play of chance, in a broader population of patients with AF, are needed to assess the impact of exercise-based interventions.

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FOR THE MAIN COMPARISON [Explanation]

Exercise compared to No exercise for adults with atrial fibrillation

Patient or population: adults with atrial fibrillation Setting: in hospital, in municitipalities¹, and home-based Intervention: Exercise Comparison: No exercise

Outcomes	Anticipated absolute effects* (95% CI)		Relative effect (95% Cl)	№ of participants (studies)	Quality of the evidence (GRADE)	Comments	
	Risk with No exercise	Risk with Exercise					
Mortality follow-up: 8 weeks to 6 months	Study population		RR 1.00 (0.06 to 15.78)	421 (6 RCTs)	⊕○○○ VERY LOW ²	Trial sequential analy- sis (TSA) showed that	
	5 per 1000	5 per 1000 (0 to 76)				only 0.15% of the re- quired information size (141,997) was reached	
Serious adverse events Follow-up: 8 weeks to 6 months	Study population		RR 1.01	381 (5 RCTs)	⊕○○○ VERY LOW ²	TSA showed that only 1. 48% of the required in- formation size (23,723) was reached	
	26 per 1000	27 per 1000 (26 to 28)	(0.98 to 1.05)				
Quality of life assessed with SF-36 PCS Scale: 0 to 100 Higher = better Follow-up: 20 weeks to 6 months	The mean quality of life in the control groups ranged from 47.9 to 49. 5 points	The mean quality of life in the exercise groups was 1.96 points higher (2.5 lower to 6.42 higher)		224 (2 RCTs)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ LOW ³	TSA showed that the re- quired information size of 185 participants was reached. This led us to conclude that any pos- sible intervention ef- fect, if any, was less than 7 points	
Quality of life assessed with SF-36 MCS Scale: 0 to 100	The mean quality of life in the control groups was 51.9 points	The mean quality of life in the exercise groups was 1.99 points higher (0.48 lower to 4.46		224 (2 RCTs)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ LOW ³	TSA showed that the re- quired information size of 57 participants was reached. This led us to	

Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation (Review) Copyright © 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

4

Higher = better Follow-up: 20 weeks to 6 months		higher)			conclude that any pos- sible intervention ef- fect, if any, was less than 7 points
Exercise capacity mea- sured by different tools Follow-up: 8 weeks to 4 months		The standardised mean mean difference for ex- ercise capacity was 0. 86 more in the exercise groups (0.46 higher to 1.26 higher)	359 (6 RCTs)	⊕⊖⊖⊖ VERY LOW ⁴	Exercise capacity as- sessed with VO2 peak in two trials, 6-minute walking test in three tri- als, and by cycle er- gometer test in one trial
Exercise capacity assessed with VO2 peak Higher = better Follow-up: 4 months to 5 months.	The mean exercise ca- pacity in the control groups ranged from 20. 7 to 32.1 mL/kg/min	The mean exercise ca- pacity was 3.76 mL/kg/ min higher in the exer- cise groups (1.37 higher to 6.15 higher)	208 (2 RCTs)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ MODERATE ⁵	TSA showed the al- pha-spending bound- aries for benefit were crossed, indicating that sufficient information was obtained, and the result was not due to random error
Excercise capacity assessed with 6-minute walking test Higher = better Follow-up: 12 weeks to 4 months	The mean exercise ca- pacity ranged from 406. 38 to 602 meters	The mean exercise ca- pacity was 76.76 me- ters higher in the exer- cise group (14 higher to 137.53 higher)	- 272 (4 RCTs)	⊕○○○ VERY LOW ³	TSA showed that the re- quired information size (3392) was not reached when assessing a mini- mal relevant difference of 25 meters

*The risk in the intervention group (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the relative effect of the intervention (and its 95% CI).

CI: Confidence interval; RR: Risk ratio; OR: Odds ratio;

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High quality: We are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect

Moderate quality: We are moderately confident in the effect estimate: The true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different

Low quality: Our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: The true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect

ы

Very low quality: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: The true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect

SF-36 = Short Form-36

PCS = physical component summary measure

MCS = mental component summary measure

¹ Training centres could be located in the municipalities (outside the hospitals), they were run by physiotherapists hired by the municipalities.

² Downgraded by 3 levels because of serious limitations in study design (1 level) and very serious risk of imprecision (2 levels).

³ Downgraded by 2 levels because of a very serious limitation in study design (risk of bias due to lack of blinding and incomplete outcome data).

⁴ Downgraded by 3 levels because of very serious limitations in study design (2 levels) and serious risk of imprecision (1 level).

⁵ Downgraded by 1 level because of a serious limitation in study design (1 level).

•

BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is the most common sustained cardiac arrhythmia (irregular heart beat). It affects 1.5% to 2% of the population in Europe and North America (Ball 2013; Kirchhof 2016; Nguyen 2013). The incidence of AF is increasing, mainly due to the ageing population (Ball 2013; Camm 2012; Go 2001; Ruigomez 2005; Stewart 2001). Atrial fibrillation is associated with increased mortality, heart failure, stroke, and other thromboembolic events (Camm 2010; Kirchhof 2016; Kirchhof 2007; Stewart 2002). As such, AF has now become a health, social, and economic burden (Brenyo 2011), and is expected to worsen over the coming decades (Camm 2012).

Patients with AF can experience palpitations, shortness of breath, fatigue, dizziness, and syncope (fainting) (Kirchhof 2016). An American observational study of 655 individuals found that AF symptoms are a negative predictor for patients' physical capacity (Atwood 2007). Symptoms and duration of AF episodes vary within the individual, and from individual to individual (Kirchhof 2016). Five different types of AF exist: first-diagnosed AF, paroxysmal AF, persistent AF, long-standing persistent AF, and permanent AF (Kirchhof 2016). First-diagnosed AF is the term given to the condition when a patient presents with AF for the first time, regardless of the duration of the arrhythmia, or the presence and severity of AF-related symptoms. Paroxysmal AF is self-limited, and usually the rhythm converts spontaneously to sinus rhythm within 48 hours. In persistent AF, the AF episode lasts longer than seven days, or requires cardioversion to end the episode. When the duration of AF exceeds one year, AF is considered to be longstanding persistent. Finally, permanent AF is when AF is accepted without further attempts of conversion, or these attempts have been shown to be unsuccessful or short-lasting (Kirchhof 2016; Lafuente-Lafuente 2012).

Treatment of AF focuses on re-establishing and maintaining sinus rhythm (so-called rhythm control) and protecting the patient against thromboembolic complications (Kirchhof 2016). When AF is longer-lasting (as in persistent AF, long-standing persistent AF, and permanent AF), an additional therapeutic goal is to control the heart rate in the range of 60 to 80 beats/minute at rest, and 90 to 115 beats/minute when active (rate control). This is achieved by treatment with antiarrhythmic drugs, which block the function of the atrioventricular node (Brenyo 2011; Kirchhof 2016). Treatment should also aim at reducing symptoms and discomfort related to AF (Brenyo 2011).

Acute management of patients with AF includes acute conversion to sinus rhythm, protection against thromboembolic events, and acute improvement of cardiac function. However, AF recurrence is common despite administration of antiarrhythmic drugs to maintain normal sinus rhythm after cardioversion (Kirchhof 2016). Radiofrequency ablation is sometimes used to treat AF. It is an invasive treatment developed to cure AF. In a Cochrane systematic review, Chen and colleagues found that ablation had a better effect in inhibiting recurrence of AF compared with medical therapies, but there was limited evidence demonstrating that sinus rhythm was maintained after ablation and after long-term follow-up (Chen 2012). Despite the results of the systematic review, ablation seems to have an increasingly accepted role in the treatment of AF (Brenyo 2011; Calkins 2009; Kirchhof 2016).

Studies have found that quality of life is impaired in individuals with AF compared to healthy controls, the general population, or patients with coronary heart disease in the western world (Dabrowski 2010; Kang 2004; Thrall 2006). Studies have suggested that maintaining sinus rhythm improves quality of life, and may be associated with improved survival (Dabrowski 2010; Dorian 2000; Dorian 2002; Kang 2004; McCabe 2011; Thrall 2006). If patients lack self-management skills, they can experience distress when trying to handle symptoms of AF, such as palpitations, dyspnoea, and fatigue. Some patients with AF report that they have not received education or help from health professionals regarding how to live with AF (McCabe 2011; Lane 2015).

Description of the intervention

Cardiac rehabilitation provides beneficial effects in patients following myocardial infarction and percutaneous coronary intervention and in those with heart failure, by improving physical, mental, cognitive, and social function; and reducing the risk of mortality, hospitalisation, and healthcare costs (Anderson 2016; Piepoli 2014; Taylor 2014). While there are many definitions of cardiac rehabilitation, the following presents the combined key elements: "The coordinated sum of activities required to favourably influence the underlying cause of cardiovascular disease, as well as to provide the best possible physical, mental and social conditions, so that patients may, by their own efforts, preserve or resume optimal functioning in their community, and through improved health behaviour, slow or reverse progression of disease" (BACPR 2012). According to this definition, cardiac rehabilitation is a complex, comprehensive intervention that should include not only exercise training, but also education and psychosocial management, and a behavioural modification programme designed to improve the physical and emotional well-being of patients with heart disease (Piepoli 2014). Cardiac rehabilitation can include patient assessments, nutritional counselling, and risk factor management focusing on lipids, blood pressure, weight, diabetes mellitus, and smoking cessation (Piepoli 2014).

Studies of exercise training for patients with AF have used various protocols, indicating the uncertainty of what should be the precise exercise advice for patients with AF. A review of exercise rehabilitation for AF that included 36 studies (six randomised clinical trials) in 1512 patients, made the following recommendations for exercise training: (1) include three or more weekly sessions of

moderate intensity whole-body aerobic activities (such as walking, jogging, cycling, or rowing); (2) each session should be at least 60 minutes long; continue the sessions for at least three months; and (3) sessions should include stretching, balance exercises, resistance training, and callisthenics (Giacomantonio 2013). The review included studies with a variety of different designs, and did not consider rehabilitation components other than exercise training.

Current recommendations for rehabilitation following myocardial infarction, percutaneous coronary intervention, heart valve replacement, and heart failure recommend that psychosocial or educational support, or both, should be offered to patients, in addition to exercise training (National Board of Health 2013). However, no such national or international recommendation for rehabilitation is currently provided for patients with AF. A systematic review including 30 studies of mixed designs exploring rehabilitation for patients living with permanent AF, reported that no studies had included psychosocial support, education, or both, with the aim of improving the patient's self-management skills (Lowres 2011).

How the intervention might work

At present, the effect of exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation on total mortality, serious adverse events, and health-related quality of life for patients with AF remains uncertain. Existing evidence from both randomised clinical trials and observational studies indicates that exercise-based interventions positively affect heart rate control, exercise capacity, symptom burden, improves symptom and disease management, decrease rates of anxiety and depression, and increases quality of life for patients with AF (Giacomantonio 2013; Hegbom 2006; Osbak 2011; Reed 2013).

The general cardiovascular mechanisms of physical exercise in the healthy individual include an increase in heart rate, blood pressure, whole body oxygen uptake, facilitated by brainstem cardiovascular activation (Hambrecht 2000). Cardiovascular adaption to dynamic physical exercise increases cardiac chamber size, facilitating an increased stroke volume, lowers blood pressure, lowers resting heart rate, and improves endurance training, by promoting volume hypertrophy due to increased wall stretch and increased venous return (Hawley 2014). Physical exercise also increases activity in the parasympathetic nervous system, resulting in an increase in heart rate variability, a blunted arterial baroreflex response, and an impaired heart rate response to atropine, which independently decreases the risk of death (Levy 1998). Overall, physical inactivity is an independent predictor of morbidity and all-cause cardiovascular mortality (Blair 1996; Myers 2002).

Evidence shows that exercise training for cardiac patients, has benefits on the heart and coronary vasculature, including myocardial oxygen demand, endothelial function, autonomic tone, coagulation and clotting factors, inflammatory markers, and the development of coronary collateral vessels (Clausen 1976; Hambrecht 2000). A randomised trial including 30 patients with permanent AF showed that exercise capacity and heart rate variability improved after two months of exercise training, compared with no exercise training (Hegbom 2006). A prospective uncontrolled pilot study in 10 patients with AF, found that among older individuals with AF, exercise training decreased the ventricular rate at rest and during exercise, and increased exercise capacity following regular moderate physical activity (Plisiene 2008). Similarly, a pre-post study of 20 patients showed increases in physical capacity (a 15% increase measured by maximum oxygen uptake (VO2 max)) after exercise (Mertens 1996). In a randomised clinical trial including 49 patients with permanent AF, Osbak and colleagues concluded that exercise capacity measured by VO2 peak improved significantly after 12 weeks of exercise training compared to no exercise (Osbak 2011).

We might anticipate the same, or similar effects of exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation, as seen in other cardiac populations who typically receive cardiac rehabilitation, i.e., those with myocardial infarction, post percutaneous intervention, and heart failure. Two Cochrane reviews have shown that exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation has a number of positive effects in these latter populations that include reductions in deaths and hospitalisation, and improvements in health-related quality of life (Anderson 2016; Taylor 2014).

Possible harmful effects of exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for patients with AF could include increased risk of adverse events (e.g. arrhythmias) or serious adverse events like hospitalisation because of exercise-induced AF. A review reported serious adverse events to be 2/560 (2 events of Ischaemic chest pain in 560 patients with AF), and non-serious adverse events to be 43/560 (43 events of exercise-induced AF), which the authors considered to be a low risk (Giacomantonio 2013).

We have not been able to find examples of integrated rehabilitation programmes for patients with AF, or guidelines outlining recommendations for rehabilitation for patients with AF, but Hendriks and colleagues found, in a randomised trial, that follow-up in a nurse-led AF clinic significantly reduced cardiovascular hospitalisations and mortality compared with usual care (Hendriks 2012; Hendriks 2014). They also found that the AF-related knowledge level was higher in the nurse-led group at one year follow-up, compared with the control group that received usual care (Hendriks 2014).

In summary, studies show that exercise training has some positive effects on patients with AF. However, few studies have included psycho-educational interventions, which may offer further benefit to AF patients, such as improvements in mental health. Evidence exploring mortality and re-hospitalisation is lacking.

Why it is important to do this review

Three reviews have sought to assess the effects of exercise training for patients with AF (Giacomantonio 2013; Lowres 2011; Reed 2013). In terms of informing rehabilitation practice for AF pa-

tients, these reviews have a number of limitations: lack of published protocol before being conducted (Giacomantonio 2013; Lowres 2011; Reed 2013); focused solely on exercise training (Giacomantonio 2013; Reed 2013); included observational studies (Giacomantonio 2013; Lowres 2011; Reed 2013); and none of the reviews presented potential harms (Reed 2013). This Cochrane review aims to overcome these limitations by assessing the evidence from randomised trials, and investigating both the benefits and harms of exercise-based rehabilitation in patients with AF. We will consider not only trials of exercise training alone, but also trials that include a psycho-educational interventional component, based on our published protocol (Risom 2013).

OBJECTIVES

To assess the benefits and harms of exercise-based rehabilitation programmes compared with no exercise training controls in adults who currently have AF, or have been treated for AF. We will consider programmes that include exercise training alone or with another intervention (such as a psycho-educational component).

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

We included randomised clinical trials regardless of language, publication year, publication type, and publication status.

Types of participants

Adult patients (18 years old or older) of both sexes and of all ethnicities, who currently have AF, or who have been treated for AF. We included patients regardless of the type of AF, and the treatment of the arrhythmia.

Types of interventions

Experimental intervention

The rehabilitation programme had to include exercise training. Exercise-based interventions were defined as: any rehabilitation programme in an inpatient, outpatient, or community- or homebased setting that was provided for a patient with AF. The rehabilitation programme must have included an exercise training component; it may also have included a psycho-educational component. The exercise component had to focus on strengthening the patient's exercise capacity, and preferably improve their rate control (i.e. reduced maximum heart rate during exercise). The psychoeducational component had to focus on psychosocial support or education, aiming to improve the patient's self-management skills. There were no restrictions in the length, intensity, or content of the training programme.

Control intervention

We included the following control interventions:

• Treatment as usual (e.g. standard medical care, such as drug, and ablation therapy).

• No intervention.

• Any other type of cardiac rehabilitation programme, as long as it did not include a physical exercise element.

The last point was added after the protocol was published to include a comprehensive answer to the objectives in the review.

Co-interventions

We included trials with co-interventions other than rehabilitation as long as they were equally delivered in the experimental and control groups. Co-interventions could include: drugs, ablation techniques, or dietary interventions.

Types of outcome measures

We assessed all outcomes at two time points:

- end of intervention (as defined by the trialists); and
- longest available follow-up.

There was no minimum length of follow-up for the studies that were eligible for the review.

Primary outcomes

1. Mortality: all-cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality.

2. Serious adverse events: defined as any untoward medical occurrence that was life threatening, resulting in death, or that was persistent or leading to significant disability; any medical event, which had jeopardised the patient or required intervention to prevent it; any hospital admission, or prolongation of existing hospital admission (ICH-GCP 2015).

3. Health-related quality of life using generic or diseasespecific validated instruments, e.g. Short Form-36 (SF-36), or Minnesota Living with Heart Failure questionnaire.

Secondary outcomes

1. Exercise capacity: any measure of exercise capacity, including direct measurement of oxygen uptake (VO2 peak or VO2 max), or indirect measures such as exercise time, walking distance, etc.

 Symptoms including palpitations, dyspnoea, dizziness, and episodes of AF during the intervention period (Kirchhof 2016).
Return to work, or loss of employment.

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

We searched the following electronic databases from their inception to 14 July 2016, to identify reports of relevant randomised clinical trials:

1. Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials

(CENTRAL; 2016, Issue 6) in the Cochrane Library (searched 14 July 2016);

2. The Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effectiveness (DARE; 2015, Issue 2) in the Cochrane Library (searched on 14 July 2016);

3. Epub Ahead of Print, In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations, MEDLINE Daily, MEDLINE Ovid (1946 to 14 July 2016);

4. Embase Classic, Embase Ovid (1947 to 2016 week 28);

5. PsycINFO Ovid (1806 to July week 2 2016);

6. Web of Science Core Collection Thomson Reuters (1990 to 14 July 2016);

7. CINAHL EBSCO (1937 to 14 July 2016);

8. LILACS Bireme (1987 to 14 July 2016).

The search strategy for MEDLINE Ovid was adapted for use in the other databases (Appendix 1). The Cochrane sensitivity-maximising randomised clinical trial filter for MEDLINE was applied and adapted for the other databases where applicable (Lefebvre 2011).

We also conducted a search for adverse effects in the following databases, from their inception to 14 July 2016.

1. Epub Ahead of Print, In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations, MEDLINE Daily, MEDLINE Ovid (1946 to 14 July 2016); 2. Embase Classic, Embase Ovid (1947 to 2016 week 28). The search strategies are in Appendix 1. An adverse effects filter was applied using terms as recommended in the *Cochrane Handbook of Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Loke 2011).

Searching other resources

We searched the following clinical trial registries on 16 September 2016, to identify ongoing trials. See the search strategy in Appendix 1:

1. ClinicalTrials.gov (www.clinicaltrials.gov);

2. Controlled-trials.com (www.controlled-trials.com);

3. The World Health Organization (WHO) International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP; apps.who.int/trialsearch/).

We checked the reference lists of publications for included studies for any unidentified randomised trials. We did not impose any language restrictions.

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

Two authors (SSR and PPJ) independently read titles and abstracts of all publications identified from searches and excluded studies that did not meet the inclusion criteria. We retrieved fulltext copies of all potentially relevant studies, and the same two authors independently assessed them for eligibility, based on the defined inclusion criteria. The authors resolved disagreements by discussion, and when necessary, a third author (SKB) was asked to mediate. The study selection process was documented using a PRISMA study selection flow chart (Figure 1); excluded studies with reasons for their exclusion were detailed in the Characteristics of excluded studies table.



Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation (Review)

Data extraction and management

Two authors (SSR and PPJ) independently extracted data from the identified trials using standardised data extraction forms. For the trial conducted by some of the authors in this review, data were extracted by RST, who was not involved in the trial (Risom 2016). Where data were presented both numerically (in tables or text) and graphically (in figures), we used numeric data, because of possible measurement error when estimating from graphs. A third author (SKB) confirmed all numeric calculations and extractions from graphs or figures. We resolved any discrepancies by consensus. SSR entered data into Cochrane's statistical software Review Manager 5 (RevMan 5 2014). In those cases where there were not sufficient data or data were unclear in the published trial reports, we contacted authors, them them to clarify the missing information.

We extracted the following data.

1. General information: published or unpublished, title, authors' names, source, country, contact address, language of publication, year of publication, duplicate publication, funding.

2. Study characteristics: design, duration of follow up.

3. Interventions: type and dose of exercise training, other rehabilitation interventions, setting (i.e. inpatient, outpatient, or home), time after hospitalisation, and type of control (e.g. intervention or conventional care).

4. Participants: inclusion and exclusion criteria, number of participants in intervention and control group, patient demographics (including sex and ethnicity), clinical characteristics (including type of AF), and losses to follow-up.

5. Outcomes: mortality (all-cause mortality, cardiovascular mortality), serious adverse events defined above, health-related quality of life (using generic or disease-specific validated instruments), exercise capacity, symptoms (including palpitations, dyspnoea, dizziness, and attacks during the intervention period), return to work or loss of employment.

6. Risk of bias: see Assessment of risk of bias in included studies below.

We sought to compare data from each intervention group of each parallel group trial; for cross-over trials, we had planned only to use data from the first phase of the trial (i.e. before cross-over).

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

Two authors (SSR and PPJ) independently assessed the risk of bias of the included trials using Cochrane's tool for assessing risk of bias (Higgins 2011a). Disagreements were resolved by discussion.

Overall risk of bias

We categorised a trial as being at low risk of bias if the trial was rated at low risk in all the domains listed below. We categorised a trial as being at high risk of bias if the risk of bias was rated as either uncertain or high in any of the domains listed below. We expected all trials to be categorised at an overall high risk of bias, as it is not possible to blind participants and personnel (Savovic 2012; Wood 2008). Therefore, we also categorised trials as being at a lower risk of bias, if a trial was rated low risk of bias in all the domains listed below except blinding of participants and personnel. For viewing the bias risk domains see Appendix 2.

Measures of treatment effect

Dichotomous outcomes were expressed as a risk ratio (RR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI). Continuous outcomes were expressed as a mean difference (MD) between intervention groups. We preferred not to calculate effect size measures (standardised mean difference (SMD)), however, when studies used different instruments to assess the same outcome (e.g. quality of life or exercise capacity), we calculated and pooled effect sizes using the SMD and transformed the effect back to the units of one or more of the specific instruments (Higgins 2011).

Unit of analysis issues

For cluster-randomised trials, we had planned to contact the trial authors to obtain an estimate of the intra-cluster correlation (ICC) when appropriate adjustments for the correlation between participants within clusters had not been made, or impute it using estimates from the other included trials, or from similar external trials. We included one trial that used a cross-over design, from which we only included participants in the analysis before the cross over.

Dealing with missing data

We obtained missing data by contacting the authors of the trials, if possible. When data remained unavailable, we assessed and discussed the impact of the missing data.

We analysed dichotomous outcomes according to the intentionto-treat method, which included all participants regardless of compliance or follow-up (Higgins 2011b; Sterne 2011). For the primary analyses, we assumed that participants lost to follow-up were alive, had no serious adverse events, and did not experienced loss of employment. We conducted sensitivity analyses (see below). For continuous outcomes, we analysed available patient data and only included data of those for whom results were known (Sterne 2011). Where mean (M) and standard deviations (SD) were missing, we obtained those directly from the authors. We had also planned to obtain SDs by calculation, or by imputing SDs from

 other included trials, specifically trials with a low risk of bias, however, that was not necessary in this review.

Assessment of heterogeneity

We explored clinical heterogeneity by comparing the population, experimental intervention and control intervention. We observed statistical heterogeneity in the trials both by visual inspection of a forest plot and by using a standard Chi² value with a significance level of P = 0.10. We assessed heterogeneity using the I² statistic. We interpreted an I² estimate of at least 50% and a statistically significant Chi² statistic as evidence of a substantial problem with heterogeneity (Higgins 2011).

Assessment of reporting biases

Small study (publication) bias

We had planned to construct funnel plots for each outcome for which there were at least ten trials, or all trials were of similar sizes, to establish the potential influence of small study effects and potential publication bias (Furukawa 2006). Therefore, due to the limited number of included studies (six studies), we were not able to construct funnel plots.

Data synthesis

We performed data synthesis according to recommendations in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2011), and statistical analyses using the latest version of Review Manager 5 (RevMan 5 2014), and Trial Sequential Analysis software (TSA 2011). We used both random-effects and fixed-effect models for meta-analyses (Deeks 2011; DeMets 1987; DerSimonian 1986). We presented results from the random-effects model when heterogeneity was high and from fixed-effects when heterogeneity was low. When different measuring scales were used (e.g. exercise capacity) to measure the same outcome, we reported data from each measuring scale, and finally calculated a SMD.

Trial Sequential Analysis

Trial sequential analysis was the planned application to control risks of random errors, because cumulative meta-analyses are at risk of producing such errors due to sparse data and repetitive testing on the accumulating data (Thorlund 2009a; Thorlund 2009b; TSA 2011; Wetterslev 2008; Wetterslev 2009). The underlying assumption of trial sequential analysis is that testing for significance may be performed each time a new trial is added to the metaanalysis. To minimise random errors, we calculated the required information size (i.e. the number of participants needed in a metaanalysis to detect or reject a certain intervention effect (Wetterslev 2008)). We adjusted the required information size with the diversity (D-square) of the meta-analysis (Wetterslev 2009). We added the trials according to the year of publication, and if more than one trial was published in a year, we added trials alphabetically, by the last name of the first author (Wetterslev 2008).

In our meta-analysis, the diversity-adjusted required information size for binary outcomes was based on the assumption of a plausible relative risk reduction (RRR) of 20% from the proportion with the outcome in the control group (Wetterslev 2008). For continuous outcomes, we had planned to assess a minimal relevant difference of 0.5 SDs, using the SD in the control group. However, instead, we used a minimal relevant difference of seven points for the SF-36 physical and mental component scales (Berg 2015; Dorian 2000), 3 mL/kg/min for VO2 peak (Mettens 1996), and 25 meters for the six-minute walking test (ATS statement 2002; Wise 2005; Gremeaux 2011). These differences were decided before the TSAs were conducted. As a default, we used a type I error of 5%, a type II error of 20%, and diversity-adjusted required information size, unless otherwise stated (Wetterslev 2008; Wetterslev 2009).

We constructed trial sequential monitoring boundaries on the basis of the required information size and the risks for type I and type II errors (TSA 2011; Wetterslev 2008). These boundaries determine the statistical inference that may be drawn regarding the cumulative meta-analysis. If the monitoring boundaries for benefits or harms are crossed before the diversity-adjusted required information size is reached, it is possible that firm evidence may be established, and further trials may turn out to be superfluous, at least for the postulated intervention effect. On the other hand, if the boundaries are not surpassed, it would most probably be necessary to continue conducting trials in order to detect or reject a certain intervention effect.

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

We had planned to perform subgroup analyses on the primary outcomes using stratified meta-analysis. However, due to the small number of included trials and participants, small number of events, and poor reporting within the trials, this was not possible.

In the future, we plan to perform subgroup analyses on the following.

- Trials including women compared to trials including men.
- Trials including younger patients compared to trials

including older patients, defined by the trialists or by mean age.Trials with exercise intervention only, compared to trials

with exercise intervention plus any other co-intervention, such as psycho-educational intervention.

• Participants with persistent AF compared to participants with paroxysmal AF.

• Hospitalisation after rehabilitation because of AF compared to no hospitalisation because of AF.

Sensitivity analysis

In the future, for the primary outcomes, we plan to perform sensitivity analyses on the following:

• Trials with overall low risk of bias. If no trials are categorised as overall low risk of bias, we will analyses trials with overall lower risk of bias separately.

Dichotomous outcomes

Best-worse case scenario

For this analysis, we assumed that all participants lost to followup in the experimental group had not experienced the outcome (e.g. death), and all those with missing outcomes in the control group had experienced the outcome (e.g. death).

Worst-best case scenario

For this analysis, we assumed that all participants lost to followup in the experimental group had experienced the outcome (e.g. death), and all those with missing outcomes in the control group had not experienced the outcome (e.g. death).

Continuous data

Assumptions for lost data

It was not necessary to make any assumptions for lost continuous data in this review (see Dealing with missing data). However, had it been necessary, we would have compared the findings from our assumptions with data only from those participants who completed the trials.

Summary of findings

We developed a 'Summary of findings' table, which incorporates GRADE methods to assess the quality of the body of evidence supporting each of the major outcomes in our review; please see Summary of findings for the main comparison (Guyatt 2008). For our assessments, we evaluated the risk of bias, inconsistency, imprecision, directness, and risk of publication bias. We used GRADEpro GDT software to create 'Summary of findings' table (GRADEpro GDT 2014). Our decisions were guided by the GRADE guidelines (Andrews 2013a; Andrews 2013b; Balshem 2011; Brunetti 2013; Guyatt 2011a; Guyatt 2011b; Guyatt 2011c; Guyatt 2011d; Guyatt 2011e; Guyatt 2011f; Guyatt 2011g; Guyatt 2011h; Guyatt 2013a; Guyatt 2013b; Guyatt 2013c; Mustafa 2013).

RESULTS

Description of studies

See: Characteristics of included studies; Characteristics of excluded studies.

Results of the search

Our electronic searches for this review yielded a total of 4222 titles (following removal of duplicates). After reviewing titles and abstracts, we retrieved 19 records for possible inclusion. After examining the texts, six articles and three ongoing studies were excluded, and ten records (abstracts and full-text articles) on six randomised clinical trials were included. The study selection process is summarised in the PRISMA flow diagram shown in Figure 1. The information on the three ongoing trials can be found in the Characteristics of ongoing studies table.

Included studies

We included six trials, with a total of 421 patients, described in ten abstracts and papers, which compared exercise-based rehabilitation versus no intervention or treatment as usual for patients with AF or patients who had been treated for AF (Hegbom 2006; Malmo 2016; Osbak 2011; Pippa 2007; Risom 2016; Zeren 2016). Details of included trials are provided in the Characteristics of included studies tables.

One trial had a cross-over design, where the patients in the control group received the intervention after the control period (Hegbom 2006). We have only included the patient data from the first part of the trial (intervention N = 15; control N = 15).

One trial was conducted in Norway (Hegbom 2006), two in Denmark (Osbak 2011; Risom 2016), one in Italy (Pippa 2007), one in Sweden (Malmo 2016), and one in Turkey (Zeren 2016).

All trials reported outcomes at the end of the intervention, which was either eight weeks (Hegbom 2006), 12 weeks (Osbak 2011; Zeren 2016), 16 weeks (Pippa 2007), 20 weeks (Malmo 2016), or six months post-randomisation (Risom 2016).

All six trials compared an exercise training programme with no additional interventions; one trial included two hours of education on best practices for cardiovascular risk management for both the intervention and the control groups (Pippa 2007), and one trial included psycho-educational consultations as a supplement to the physical exercise (Risom 2016).

The exercise training interventions differed in duration (8 weeks to 16 weeks), frequency (from twice a day, seven days a week, to two or three sessions per week), and session length (15 minutes, to 90 minutes per session). The exercise training sessions were supervised or non-supervised home-based sessions. In four of the trials, the intervention consisted of aerobic training and cool down and warm-up periods (Hegbom 2006; Malmo 2016; Osbak 2011;

Risom 2016). The aerobic training was undertaken at an intensity corresponding to 70% of maximal exercise capacity (Osbak 2011), 70% to 90% of maximum heart rate (Hegbom 2006), or up to 85% to 95% of peak heart rate (Malmo 2016). In one trial, the Borg scale was used and intensity was progressively increased during the weeks (Borg 11 to 17 (Risom 2016)), another trial used 85% to 90% of maximal heart rate and Borg 6 to 20 in fourminute intervals (Malmo 2016).

In the one trial, the intervention consisted of Qi-gong, which is slow and graceful movements with a focus on breathing, with the aims of inducing emotional control, increasing muscle tone, and enhancing body flexibility and strength (Pippa 2007). Another trial included an intervention that consisted of inspiratory muscle training at 30% of maximal inspiratory pressure (Zeren 2016). All six trials recruited adult patients with, or treated for, AF. Three

trials included patients with permanent AF (Hegbom 2006; Osbak 2011; Zeren 2016); in one trial, the patients were diagnosed with AF at least three months prior to the start of the trial and were taking anticoagulant treatment for at least two months (Pippa 2007). Another trial recruited patients who had had an ablation for

paroxysmal or persistent AF (Risom 2016), and one trial recruited patients with nonpermanent AF (Malmo 2016).

Excluded studies

After review of the full-text reports, six publications of six studies were excluded from the review. One abstract was excluded since no intervention was applied (Angergard K 2015), and one was excluded because the control group also received the experimental intervention (Borland 2015). Two studies were excluded since patient groups other than patients with AF were included (Kim 2014; Frederix 2015), and two studies were excluded as no randomisation was performed (Mertens 1996; Vanhees 2000). The three ongoing studies were excluded since no results were presented (see Ongoing studies).

Risk of bias in included studies

See Figure 2 for overview of risk of bias in the included trials. The six trials demonstrated various risks of bias across the domains.

	Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias)	Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias)	Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias)	Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Groups balanced at baseline	Groups received same intervention (performance bias)	For-profit-bias	Intention-to-treat
Hegborn 2006	?	?	?	?	•	?	•	?	?	•
Malmo 2016	?	?	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Osbak 2011	•	•	•	?	•	•	•	?	•	•
Pippa 2007	•	•	?	?	•	?	•	?	?	•
Risom 2016	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Zeren 2016	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•

Figure 2. Risk of bias summary: review authors' judgements about each risk of bias item for each included study

Allocation

Randomisation was adequately reported in four trials. In one trial, random sequence generation was generated by a random numbers table (Pippa 2007), one was generated by a random list (Osbak 2011), one was computer-generated (Risom 2016), and one used prefilled envelops (Zeren 2016). Allocation concealment was secured by computer-generated allocation in three trials, and sealed envelopes in one trial, as previously described. Two trials did not describe their method of allocation (Hegbom 2006; Malmo 2016).

Blinding

It is not possible to blind patients, clinicians or carers in studies of exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation. However, outcome assessment should be blinded to patient allocation. Four of the trials stated that they took measures to blind outcome assessment (Malmo 2016; Osbak 2011; Risom 2016; Zeren 2016).

Incomplete outcome data

We judged all trials to be at low risk for incomplete outcome data. Information about all patients was available, and the number and reasons for dropouts and withdrawals were properly described in all trials. In the trial by Risom and colleagues, a larger number of patients did not complete all assessments, which is described in the trial (Risom 2016).

Selective reporting

All outcomes described in the method sections were reported in all trials. One trial had documented the hierarchy of outcomes in a published design article (Risom 2013).

Other potential sources of bias

Groups balanced at baseline

In all trials, the intervention groups appeared to be balanced at baseline.

Groups received same intervention (performance bias)

One trial used a cross-over design, which meant that we only used the before cross-over data (Hegbom 2006). In the trial by Pippa and colleagues, both groups received two hours of cardiovascular disease training, but they did not describe what kind of standard care the control group received otherwise (Pippa 2007). Osbak and colleagues described that the patients in the control group were advised to continue a habitual physical activity, but they did not describe if the groups received any standard care (Osbak 2011). Patients in the control groups received standard medical treatment in two trials (Risom 2016; Zeren 2016), and in one trial, patients continued their previous exercise habits (Malmo 2016).

For-profit-bias

Three trials described their funding sources as being from independent private sources or grants from national government funds (Malmo 2016; Osbak 2011; Risom 2016). Two trials did not describe funding sources (Hegbom 2006; Pippa 2007). One trial did not receive any funding to conduct the trial (Zeren 2016).

Intention-to-treat analysis

Although not stated, three trials appeared to undertake an intention-to-treat analysis as groups were analysed according to the initial random allocation (Malmo 2016; Osbak 2011; Pippa 2007); one trial used intention-to-treat analysis (Risom 2016); and one trial did not use intention-to-treat in the analysis (Zeren 2016). The impact of loss to follow-up was not examined in the trials.

Small-trial bias

There were insufficient trials to assess for small trial effects, or to assess whether the effect estimated varied systematically according to sample size.

Effects of interventions

See: Summary of findings for the main comparison Exercise compared to No exercise for adults with atrial fibrillation

Primary outcomes

Mortality (all-cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality)

Two deaths were reported in one of the six trials, one death in each group (Risom 2016). A trial physician judged both deaths to be unrelated to the intervention or the trial. Very low-quality evidence from pooled results showed no clear difference between groups (RR 1.00, 95% CI 0.06 to 15.78; participants = 421; studies = 6; $I^2 = 0\%$; Analysis 1.1).

Trial sequential analysis (TSA) showed that the diversity-adjusted required information size of 140,645 participants was not reached, as the accrued number of participants was only 421 (0.3%). We assumed a control event proportion of 0.5% (as observed in the control group), and used an empirical continuity correction of 0.01 for zero event trials (Figure 3).

Figure 3. Mortality. Trial Sequential Analysis on mortality in the six trials was performed based on the proportion with mortality in the control group set at 0.5%, a relative risk reduction of 20%, a type I error of 5%, a type II error of 20% (80% power), and diversity of 1%. The diversity-adjusted required information size was 140,645 participants. The blue line represents the cumulative Z-score of the meta-analysis. The green lines

represent the conventional statistical boundaries of P = 0.05. The cumulative Z-curve (blue line) does not cross the conventional statistical boundaries. The trial sequential monitoring boundaries and the diversity-adjusted required information size are not shown as the accrued number of participants only amounted to 421/140,645 (0.3%).



Sensitivity analysis

We performed sensitivity analysis to assess the possible impact of data loss on death. Taking the worst-best case assumption that all patients lost to follow-up in the exercise group died, and the patients with missing outcomes in the no-exercise control group survived, there was no clear difference between groups in mortality (RR 0.83, 95% CI 0.26 to 2.65; participants = 421; studies = 6; I² = 0%; Analysis 1.2); we also found no clear difference when taking the best-worst case assumption (lost to follow-up in exercise group

survived and lost to follow-up in the control group died (RR 0.59, 95% CI 0.08 to 4.35; participants = 421; studies = 6; $I^2 = 0\%$; Analysis 1.3)).

Serious adverse events

Only one of the trials stated that they formally collected serious adverse events as an outcome (Risom 2016). Nevertheless, five trials did report a total of eight serious adverse events; see additional Table 1 (Hegbom 2006; Malmo 2016; Osbak 2011; Pippa 2007;

Risom 2016). We found very low-quality of no clear difference between groups in the number of patients with serious adverse events (exercise-based rehabilitation: 3/192 (1.56%) versus control: 5/189 (2.65%); the RR for non-events was 1.01, 95% CI 0.98 to 1.05; participants = 381; studies = 5; I² = 0%; Analysis 1.4).

Trial sequential analysis showed that the diversity-adjusted information size of 23,723 participants was not reached. We assumed a control event proportion of 2.9% (as observed in the control group), and used an empirical continuity correction of 0.01 for zero event trials (Figure 4).

Figure 4. Serious adverse events. Trial Sequential Analysis on serious adverse events in four trials was performed based on the proportion with serious adverse events in the control group set at 2.9%, a relative risk reduction of 20%, a type I error of 5%, a type II error of 20% (80% power), and diversity of 0%. The diversity-adjusted required information size was 23,723 participants. The blue line represents the cumulative Z-score of the meta-analysis. The light blue lines represent the conventional statistical boundaries of P = 0.05. The trial sequential monitoring boundaries and the diversity-adjusted required information size are not shown as the accrued number of participants only amounted to 351/23723 (1.48%).



Sensitivity analysis

We found no clear differences in the risk of serious adverse events in the sensitivity analyses; worst-best case scenario (assuming all rehabilitation group drop-outs experienced a serious adverse event, and all control group drop-outs did not (RR 1.46, 95% CI 0.54 to 3.97; participants = 383; studies = 5; $I^2 = 0\%$; Analysis 1.5)); and best-worst case scenario (assuming rehabilitation group dropouts did not experience a serious adverse event, and all control drop-outs did (RR 0.65, 95% CI 0.19 to 2.24; participants = 383; studies = 5; $I^2 = 0\%$; Analysis 1.6)).

Health-related quality of life (HRQL)

We have provided an overview of the tools used to measure HRQL in Table 2. Four trials reported HRQL measured by SF-36 (Hegbom 2006; Malmo 2016; Osbak 2011; Risom 2016). Hegbom 2006 only reported combined results for the intervention and control groups, therefore, we were unable to include those results in the meta-analysis (Hegbom 2006).

SF-36 physical component summary measures (PCS)

Malmo 2016 and Risom 2016) reported results for the mental (MCS) and physical component summary measures (PCS). When we pooled results from the PCS, we found low-quality evidence of no clear difference between groups (MD 1.96, 95% CI -2.50 to 6.42; participants = 224; studies = 2; $I^2 = 69\%$; Analysis 1.7). We performed TSA on these two trials (Figure 5). We found that the cumulative Z-score crossed the diversity-adjusted required information size, indicating that sufficient information was provided. Thus, we could conclude that a possible intervention effect, if any, was less than seven points.

Figure 5. Quality of life, SF-36 physical component score. Trial sequential analysis on quality of life assessed with SF-36 physical component score assessing a minimal relevant clinical difference of 7 points, and variance of 70 points (empirical data), was performed based on a type I error of 5%, a type II error of 20% (80% power), and diversity of 75.78%. The diversity-adjusted required information size was 175 participants. The blue line represents the cumulative Z-score of the meta-analysis. The green lines represent the conventional statistical boundaries of P = 0.05. The red inward sloping lines represent the trial sequential monitoring boundaries. The cumulative Z-curve crossed the diversity-adjusted required information size (red vertical line), indicating that sufficient information was provided.



SF-36 mental component summary measures (PCS)

We found low-quality evidence of no clear difference between groups for the MCS, (MD 1.99, 95% CI -0.48 to 4.46; participants = 224; studies = 2; $I^2 = 0\%$; Analysis 1.8 (Malmo 2016; Risom 2016)).

We performed TSA on these two trials (Figure 6). We found that the cumulative Z-score crossed the diversity-adjusted required information size, indicating that sufficient information was provided. Thus, we could conclude that a possible intervention effect, if any, was less than 7 points.

Figure 6. Quality of life, SF-36 mental component score. Trial sequential analysis on quality of life assessed with SF-36 mental component score assessing a minimal relevant clinical difference of 7 points, and variance of 89 points (empirical data), was performed based on a type I error of 5%, a type II error of 20% (80% power), and diversity of 0%. The diversity-adjusted required information size was 57 participants. The blue line represents the cumulative Z-score of the meta-analysis. The green lines represent the conventional statistical boundaries of P = 0.05. The red inward sloping lines represent the trial sequential monitoring boundaries. The cumulative Z-curve (blue line) did not cross the trial sequential monitoring boundaries for benefit or harm (red inward sloping lines). The cumulative Z-curve crossed the diversity-adjusted required information size (red vertical line) indicating that sufficient information was provided.



SF-36 subscale summary measures

Three trials reported results for the eight subscales for SF-36 (Malmo 2016; Osbak 2011; Risom 2016). We found low-quality evidence from pooled data of the subscales (Analysis 1.12; Analysis 1.13):

- Physical function: MD 1.46, 95% CI -1.26 to 4.18; participants = 274; studies = 3; I² = 0%;
- Role physical: MD 2.79, 95% CI -0.52 to 6.10;

participants = 274; studies = 3; I² = 0%;

• Bodily pain: MD 0.73, 95% CI -3.99 to 5.45; participants = 274; studies = 3; I² = 23%;

• General health: MD 7.11, 95% CI 3.46 to 10.77;

participants = 273; studies = 3; $I^2 = 0\%$;

• Vitality: MD 6.10, 95% CI 1.91 to 10.30; participants = 274; studies = 3;I² = 0%;

• Social functioning: MD 2.85, 95% CI -0.72 to 6.41; participants = 274; studies = 3; I² = 0%.

• Role emotional: MD 2.91, 95% CI -1.69 to 7.50; participants = 275; studies = 3; I² = 0%;

• Mental health: MD 2.09, 95% CI -1.08 to 5.26; participants = 274; studies = 3; I² = 0%;

Minnesota Living with Heart Failure questionnaire (MLHF-Q)

One study used the MLHF-Q questionnaire to measure self-rated quality of life, and reported a statistically insignificant difference between groups in the global score (MLHF-Q total potential) in favour of the exercise group, measured at post-intervention followup (exercise group mean 15 points, SD 17 points versus no exercise group mean 23 points, SD 21 points, p=0.13) (Osbak 2011). The trialists did not report if this difference was clinically relevant.

Hospital Anxiety and Depression scale (HADS)

One study also reported a statistical insignificant difference between groups at follow-up in the HADS-anxiety scale (exercise group 3.85 points versus no exercise group 3.8 points, p=0.09) and in the HADS-depression scale (exercise group 2.92 points versus no exercise group 2.36 points, p=0.41) (Risom 2016).

Exercise capacity

Exercise capacity was assessed by measuring cumulated work (Hegbom 2006), or maximal power (Watt (Osbak 2011)), obtained with a cycle ergometer; a six-minute walking test (6MWT (Osbak 2011; Pippa 2007; Risom 2016; Zeren 2016)), or ergospirometry testing that measured VO2 peak (Malmo 2016; Risom 2016).

VO2 peak

We found moderate-quality evidence from pooled data that exercise-based rehabilitation increased exercise capacity compared with no exercise, measured at the end of intervention (MD 3.76, 95% CI 1.37 to 6.15; participants = 208; studies = 2; $I^2 = 0\%$; Analysis 1.17).

We performed TSA on exercise capacity, assessed with VO2 peak with a minimal relevant clinical difference of 3 mL/kg/min, variance of 78 mL/kg/min (empirical data), based on a type I error of 5%, a type II error of 20% (80% power), and diversity of 0% (Figure 7). The diversity-adjusted required information size of 271 participants was not met. However, the cumulative Z-curve crossed the trial sequential monitoring boundaries for benefit, indicating that sufficient information had been obtained, and the result was not due to random error.

Figure 7. Exercise capacity, VO2 peak. Trial sequential analysis on exercise capacity assessed with VO2 peak assessing a minimal relevant clinical difference of 3 mL/kg/min, and variance of 78 mL/kg/min (empirical data), was performed based on a type I error of 5%, a type II error of 20% (80% power), and diversity of 0%. The diversity-adjusted required information size was 271 participants. The blue line represents the cumulative Z-score of the meta-analysis. The green lines represent the conventional statistical boundaries of P = 0.05. The red inward sloping lines represent the trial sequential monitoring boundaries. The cumulative Z-curve (blue line) crosses the trial sequential monitoring boundaries for benefit, indicating that sufficient information was obtained.



Six-minute walking test (6MWT)

We found very low-quality evidence from pooled data that exercise-based rehabilitation increased exercise capacity, measured by 6MWT, compared with no exercise at the end of the intervention (MD 75.76, 95% CI 14.00 to 137.53; participants = 272; studies = 4; I^2 = 85%; Analysis 1.18). The TSA showed that there was not enough information to confirm or reject a difference of 25 meters (Figure 8).

Figure 8. Physical capacity, 6-minute walking test. Trial sequential analysis on exercise capacity assessed with 6-minute walking test assessing a minimal relevant clinical difference of 25 meters, and variance of 8280 m (empirical data), was performed based on a type I error of 5%, a type II error of 20% (80% power), and diversity of 87.74%. The diversity-adjusted required information size was 3392 participants. The blue line represents the cumulative Z-score of the meta-analysis. The green lines represent the conventional statistical boundaries of P = 0.05. The cumulative Z-curve (blue line) crosses the conventional statistical boundaries. However, the trial sequential monitoring boundaries and the diversity-adjusted required information size are not crossed, indicating that insufficient information is obtained.



Cumulated work

One study reports that exercise-based rehabilitation increased exercise capacity statistically significant compared with no exercise at post intervention follow-up (exercise group mean 2,077 watts (SD 753 watts) versus no exercise group mean 1,152 watts (SD 341 watts), p<0.001) (Hegbom 2006).

Maximal power

One study reports that exercise-based rehabilitation increased exercise capacity statistically significantly compared with no exercise at post-intervention follow-up (exercise mean 174 watt (SD 56 watt) versus no exercise mean 127 watt (SD 37 watt), p=0.002) (Osbak 2011).

Standardised mean difference estimate of effect

We combined the results from the three different assessment tools in a meta-analysis to determine a pooled estimate of effect, and found very low-quality evidence that exercise-based rehabilitation increased exercise capacity compared with no exercise at the end of intervention (SMD 0.86, 95% CI 0.46 to 1.26; participants = 359; studies = 6; $I^2 = 65\%$; Analysis 1.19).

AF symptoms

Three trials reported AF symptoms (Hegbom 2006; Malmo 2016; Risom 2016). One study measured AF symptoms at post-intervention follow-up with the Symptom and Severity Checklist questionnaire (Malmo 2016). They found a larger decrease in the exer-

 cise group compared to the no exercise group in AF frequency (exercise mean 11.5 points (SD 5.3 points) versus no exercise mean 16.7 points (SD 5.2 points); and AF severity (exercise mean 8.1 points (SD 6.1 points) versus no exercise mean 14.1 points (SD 3.5 points), however the authors did not report if the difference was statistically or clinically significant. One study reported post-intervention AF symptoms on the entire population (including crossover data), therefore, the data are observational (Hegbom 2006). It reported no change in AF symptom frequency measured on the Symptom and Severity Checklist at baseline (mean 14 points (SD 5 points) and after exercise training (mean 12 points (SD 7 points). No data were reported for the control group. One study reported self-reported AF symptoms related to physical exercise (exercise group n = 2, no exercise group n = 1) and not related to physical exercise (exercise group n = 1, no exercise group n = 2) (Risom 2016).

Employment loss or return to work

None of the trials reported employment loss or return to work.

Subgroup analyses

There were insufficient trials to undertake subgroup analyses.

Summary of findings tables

We found very low-quality evidence for mortality, serious adverse events, exercise capacity assessed with 6MWT, and exercise capacity estimated with SMD. We found low-quality evidence for quality of life assessed with the SF-36 physical and mental component summary measures, and moderate-quality evidence for exercise capacity assessed with VO2 peak (Summary of findings for the main comparison).

DISCUSSION

Summary of main results

This systematic review identified six randomised clinical trials with a total of 421 patients that compared exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation with a no exercise control. The exercise-based programmes in four trials consisted of both aerobic exercise and resistance training or joint movements (Hegbom 2006; Malmo 2016; Osbak 2011; Risom 2016); the exercise-based programme in (Pippa 2007) consisted of Qi-gong (slow and graceful movements that is reported to increase muscle tone and enhance body flexibility and strength; and in (Zeren 2016), the exercise-based programme consisted of inspiratory muscle training at 30% of maximal inspiratory pressure. All six trials complied with the European Society of Cardiology recommendation for physical activity for secondary prevention (Piepoli 2014)). There were inadequate data to assess the impact of exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation on the primary outcomes of mortality and serious adverse events. Regarding health-related quality of life, the trial sequential analysis showed that there were adequate data to make conclusions for the SF-36 mental and physical component summary measures, but the pooled data showed no beneficial effects of exercise training on these measures. The quality of evidence was low for those outcomes.

We found moderate to very low-quality of evidence from pooled estimates that exercise training led to short-term improvements in exercise capacity, measured at the end of intervention. This effect could have been due to the high risks of bias and imprecision, as the trial sequential analysis showed that the required information size was not reached. Due to lack of data, we could not assess the impact of exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation on the other secondary outcomes of this review: symptoms including palpitations, dyspnoea, dizziness, and AF episodes during the intervention period, return to work, or loss of employment (Kirchhof 2016).

Because of the overall low quality of evidence, exercise should still only be provided in randomised clinical trials and tested against no intervention. From more trials, we can achieve adequate information on patients with AF, so we can assess the risk of important, patient-relevant, primary outcomes.

Overall completeness and applicability of evidence

The generalisability of this review is limited by the low number of randomised clinical trials, the low number of patients with AF included, and the few patients with outcomes. The included trials all recruited highly selected study populations. In three of the trials, the participants had permanent AF (Hegbom 2006; Osbak 2011; Zeren 2016), in one trial, the patients had to be symptomatic, and have non-permanent AF to be included (Malmo 2016), another trial required the patients to have had AF for at least three months (Pippa 2007), and one trial included patients if they had been treated with an ablation for paroxysmal or persistent AF (Risom 2016). The patients were primarily younger men, who were willing to participate in an exercise training programme.

Only one of the trials included two centres for recruitment (Risom 2016); the other five trials were single-centre trials (Hegbom 2006; Malmo 2016; Osbak 2011; Pippa 2007; Zeren 2016). Taken together, these factors potentially limit the applicability of this review to the broader group of AF patients. However, given the potential safety considerations in this population, recruitment to trials of exercise-based rehabilitation is likely to be limited to highly selected study populations. Larger multi-centre trials of exercise-rehabilitation with a broader population of patients with AF are warranted.

Quality of the evidence

The overall risk of bias summary shows that in some trials, lack of reporting of methods in the included randomised trials, especially blinding of patients, personnel, and outcome assessment, made it difficult to assess their methodological quality and thereby judge their risk of bias. Other trials described their methodology in more depth and therefore, we classified some of the bias domains as low risk of bias. Using the GRADE methodology and 'Summary of findings' table, we assessed the quality of the evidence to range from moderate to very low across the outcomes. We were able to judge the minimal clinical important difference for the major predefined outcomes but not the minor outcomes.

Potential biases in the review process

We conducted the review according to the recommendations provided in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Review of Interventions* (Higgins 2011a).

We followed our peer-reviewed and pre-published protocol in order to avoid biases during the conduct and write-up of the review. In addition, we performed a comprehensive literature search to identify published and unpublished trials. We contacted study authors for further information.

Our review has some limitations. As already stated, the majority of included trials were relatively small and were all of short-term follow-up, therefore, the numbers of reported events were small. Only one of the trials sought to formally collect data on mortality and serious adverse events as outcomes. Therefore, inclusions of these outcomes in this review have been based on our judgments of the descriptions of losses to follow-up, and data provided by the authors on request.

Agreements and disagreements with other studies or reviews

Our findings are broadly in accord with three reviews of exercisetraining for AF (Giacomantonio 2013; Lowres 2011; Reed 2013). All three reviews included randomised trials plus other studies of various designs. Some of the same randomised clinical trials that we included in this systematic review were identified in the reviews (Hegbom 2006; Osbak 2011; Pippa 2007).

Similar to our findings, mortality was not reported in most reviews. One review (Lowres 2011) looked for mortality in their included studies and found that only one trial reported deaths (Vanhees 2000) - two cardiac-related deaths and one death from stroke during the intervention period or at least 48 hours after participating in exercise training. Other Cochrane reviews evaluating rehabilitation for patients with heart failure and coronary heart disease have reported that mortality is the same or lower in the cardiac rehabilitation group compared with the control group (Anderson 2014; Anderson 2016; Taylor 2014). One review (Giacomantonio 2013) found that out of 560 patients with AF in their systematic review, there were two life-threatening events reported in the included studies. We find that out of the six trials we included, five trials reported few serious adverse events. Cochrane reviews exploring re-hospitalisation among patients who have participated in cardiac rehabilitation because of heart failure or coronary heart disease, found a trend towards lower hospitalisation rates in patients who participated in cardiac rehabilitation compared with patients in the control group (Anderson 2016; Taylor 2014). Taken together, it seems likely that it is safe for patients with AF to participate in exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation programmes. However, firm evidence is lacking.

In (Lowres 2011) and (Reed 2013), they reported that healthrelated quality of life was measured in few studies in their systematic reviews. They found that health-related quality of life was improved on some of the SF-36 domains, and that the physical component summary was significantly improved (P < 0.05) in two trials (Lowres 2011). As described in the results, we did not find a beneficial effect of rehabilitation on health-related quality of life measured on the SF-36. The SF-36 is designed to measure general health and physical function rather than disease-specific symptoms and challenges related to life with AF, and therefore, it can be discussed how well the SF-36 measures health-related quality of life among patients with AF or those who have been treated for AF (Aliot 2014).

Our finding that exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation may increase physical capacity in the short term is consistent with the previous systematic reviews by Lowres and colleagues and Reed and colleagues (Lowres 2011; Reed 2013). (Lowres 2011) included randomised trials and prospective cohort studies published in English, and found a statistically significant increase in physical capacity in most trials after participating in cardiac rehabilitation. (Reed 2013) found that exercise capacity improved in all included trials after exercise intervention. However, neither review followed a pre-published protocol, they were limited to English literature only, and included studies of various designs.

Studies have suggested that maintaining sinus rhythm improves quality of life (Dabrowski 2010; McCabe 2011; Thrall 2006), and patients can experience distress when trying to handle symptoms of AF such as palpitations, dyspnoea, and fatigue (McCabe 2011). Therefore, we wanted to assess these issues in this review. We found that only two of the included trials assessed symptom severity as an outcome (Hegbom 2006; Malmo 2016). Hegbom 2006 found that symptom frequency did not change statistically before and after a physical exercise intervention. However, they did find a statistically significant difference in symptom severity. Hegbom had chosen an incomplete cross-over study design, where patients served as their own controls. Because of that and the small sample size, it was not possible to draw a conclusion based on this trial. Malmo 2016 found that patients in the exercise group experienced fewer symptoms after the physical exercise program compared to the patients in the no exercise group.

Adherence to the rehabilitation programme was discussed in three of the six included trials. Pippa 2007 described how three participants did not participate in the full rehabilitation programme due to lack of interest (two participants), and to retinal embolism (one participant), but since they all participated in more than half of the intervention sessions, they were included in the final analysis. Malmo 2016 described six patients who completed less than 80% of the exercise programme due to intercurrent infections and musculoskeletal symptoms. Risom 2016 also described adherence to the programme, defined as at least 75% adherence; 44% of the patients adherend to both the exercise and psycho-educational programme. There is a need for more focus on adherence in future rehabilitation research to be able to analyse the effect of the rehabilitation programmes in more detail, and to know if lack of effect is due to low adherence to the programme (Anderson 2014).

As the trials in this review reported few deaths and only few serious adverse events in the short follow-up, we cannot judge the possible long-term harms of exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with AF. Therefore, future research needs to address longterm harms of exercise training. In Giacomantonio 2013, they reported serious adverse events and adverse events among all the patients with AF in the studies they had included (N = 1120) and found that two patients experienced a life-threatening event and 43 patients experienced a non-life-threatening event per 13,628 exercise sessions (an estimated total 519,412 minutes of exercise). In summary, the findings of this review are broadly in accord with previous systematic reviews of exercise-training for AF (Giacomantonio 2013; Lowres 2011; Reed 2013). However, all three reviews included non-randomised studies, which are associated with increased risk of selection bias, overestimation of benefits, and underestimation of harms (Jakobsen 2013). Reporting bias cannot be ruled out if studies do not explicitly report having had a protocol. Also, when including non-randomised studies, we need to consider how potential confounders are addressed, and consider the likelihood of increased heterogeneity resulting from residual confounding and from other biases that vary across studies.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

This systematic review shows that there was limited and low-quality evidence that assessed the impact of exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with AF or those who were treated for AF. There was insufficient evidence to decide if exercise-based rehabilitation should be provided for patients with AF. Furthermore, the trials were conducted primarily in younger males, therefore, these potential benefits may not be generalisable to the wider community of patients with AF or those who were treated for AF. Our findings were in line with the European Society of Cardiology guidelines that do not recommend exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for patients with AF because of lack of evidence (Kirchhof 2016). In particular, the impact of exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation on mortality and serious adverse events remains unclear, with low- to very low-quality evidence.

Implications for research

Adequately powered randomised trials, conducted with low risk of bias are needed to determine whether the effects of exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation reported in small short-term trials can be confirmed for outcomes that matter most to patients (i.e. mortality, serious adverse events, and health-related quality of life). Multicentre trials that include comprehensive cardiac rehabilitation that test not only exercise training, but also risk-factor education and counselling, and psychosocial interventions should be the focus of future trials of exercise-based rehabilitation in patients with AF. Future trials should be designed according to the SPIRIT guidelines and reported according to the CONSORT statements for nonpharmacological trials (Chan 2013; www.consort-statement.org).

Patients included in exercised-based cardiac rehabilitation studies are typically highly selected. We still do not know if cardiac rehabilitation for patients with AF is safe, due to a small number of non-serious and serious adverse events reported by the trials identified in this review. Also, criteria and predictors to identify the patients who benefit most from rehabilitation are still lacking. Until more trials providing higher quality evidence exist, exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation should be tailored and adjusted throughout as necessary.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We extend our gratitude to all participants and investigators who took part in the randomised clinical trials. We are grateful to Philip Samuel Osbak who kindly responded to our requests for further information on the trial in which he was involved.

We would like to thank all the authors who provided important contributions to the drafting of this review. We thank Nicole Martin and Joanne Abbott for the search strategy. Lindsey Anderson for assisting with Review Manager and commenting on a draft of the review manuscript, and Anne Alexandrine Øhlers, who assisted with the analysis.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Hegbom 2006 {published data only}

Hegbom F, Sire S, Heldal M, Orning OM, Stavem K, Gjesdal K. Short-term exercise training in patients with chronic atrial fibrillation: effects on exercise capacity, AV conduction, and quality of life. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation* 2006;**26**(1):24–9.

Hegbom F, Stavem K, Sire S, Heldal M, Orning OM, Gjesdal K. Effects of short-term exercise training on symptoms and quality of life in patients with chronic atrial fibrillation. *International Journal of Cardiology* 2007;**116** (1):86–92.

Malmo 2016 {published data only}

Malmo V, Nes BM, Amundsen BH, Tjonna AE, Stoylen A, Rossvoll O, et al. Aerobic interval training reduces the burden of atrial fibrillation in the short term: a randomized trial. *Circulation* 2016;**133**(5):466–73.

Osbak 2011 {published data only}

Osbak PS, Mourier M, Henriksen JH, Kofoed KF, Jensen GB. Effect of physical exercise training on muscle strength and body composition, and their association with functional capacity and quality of life in patients with atrial fibrillation: a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine* 2012;**44**(11):975–9. [DOI: 10.2340/16501977-1039]

* Osbak PS, Mourier M, Kjaer A, Henriksen JH, Kofoed KF, Jensen GB. A randomized study of the effects of exercise training on patients with atrial fibrillation. *American Heart Journal* 2011;**162**(6):1080–7. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.ahj.2011.09.013]

Pippa 2007 {published data only}

Pippa L, Lamberto M, Corti I, Congedo G, Romanazzi L, Parruti G. Functional capacity after traditional Chinese medicine (Qi Gong) training in patients with chronic atrial fibrillation: a randomized controlled trial. *Preventive Cardiology* 2007;**10**(1):22–5.

Risom 2016 {published data only}

Risom SS, Zwisler AD, Rasmussen TB, Sibilitz KL, Madsen TLS, Svendsen JH, et al. Cardiac rehabilitation versus usual care for patients treated with catheter ablation for atrial fibrillation: results of the randomized CopenHeartRFA trial. *American Heart Journal* 2016;**181**:120–9. [DOI: 10.1016/j.ahj.2016.08.013]

Risom SS, Zwisler AD, Svendsen JH, Rasmussen TB, Sibilitz KL, Madsen TLS, et al. Comprehensive rehabilitation for patients treated for atrial fibrillation with ablation: results from the CopenHeartRFA randomized trial. *European Heart Journal* 2015;**36**(Abstract Supplement):516. Risom SS, Zwisler ADO, Rasmussen TB, Sibilitz KL, Svendsen JH, Gluud C, et al. The effect of integrated cardiac rehabilitation versus treatment as usual for atrial fibrillation patients treated with ablation: the randomised CopenHeartRFA trial protocol. *BMJ Open* 2013;**3**: e002377.

Zeren 2016 {published data only}

Zeren M, Demir R, Yigit Z, Gurses HN. Effects of inspiratory muscle training on pulmonary function, respiratory muscle strength and functional capacity in patients with atrial fibrillation: a randomized controlled trial. *Clinical Rehabilitation* 2016 [Epub ahead of print 2016 January 27];**30**(12):1165–74. [DOI: 10.1177/ 0269215515628038]

References to studies excluded from this review

Angergard K 2015 {published data only}

Angergard K. The effects of physical activity in patients with persistent atrial fibrillation. *Physiotherapy* 2015;**101** (Suppl 1):e78–9.

Borland 2015 {published data only}

Borland M, Rosenkvist A. Henriksson M, Olsson K, Sundberg H, Philip Wigh J, et al. Should supervised exercise or physical activity counselling be used to improve physical fitness in elderly patients with permanent atrial fibrillation?. *Physiotherapy* 2015;**101**(Suppl 1):e164.

Frederix 2015 {published data only}

Frederix I, Hansen D, Coninx K, Vandervoort P, Vandijck D, Hens N, et al. Effect of comprehensive cardiac telerehabilitation on one-year cardiovascular rehospitalization rate, medical costs and quality of life: a cost-effectiveness analysis. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology* 2015;**23**(7):674–82.

Kim 2014 {published data only}

Kim JY, Lee SJ, Kim JH, Choi CM, Yoon SR, Jung KI. Effects of atrial fibrillation on the outcome of the rehabilitation in patients with cerebral infarction. *Annals of Rehabilitation Medicine* 2014;**38**(6):766–74.

Mertens 1996 {published data only}

Mertens DJ, Kavanagh T. Exercise training for patients with chronic atrial fibrillation. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation* May/June 1996;**16**(3):193–6.

Vanhees 2000 {published data only}

Vanhees L, Schepers D, Defoor J, Brusselle S, Tchursh N, Fagard R. Exercise Performance and training in cardiac patients with atrial fibrillation. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation* November/December 2000;**20**(6):346–52.

References to ongoing studies

NCT01673139 {unpublished data only}

NCT01673139. Effect of 3 years of exercise in patients with atrial fibrillation. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT01673139 (first received 22 August 2012).

NCT01721863 {unpublished data only}

NCT01721863. Effects of exercise training in patients with permanent atrial fibrillation. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT01721863 (first received 22 November 2010).

NCT01817998 {unpublished data only}

NCT01817998. Atrial fibrillation (AF) and physical exercise (EXAF). clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01817998 (first received 21 March 2013).

Additional references

Aliot 2014

Aliot E, Botto GL, Crijns HJ, Kirchhof P. Quality of life in patients with atrial fibrillation: how to assess it and how to improve it. *Europace* 2014 [Epub ahead of print 26 January 2014];**16**(6):787–96. [DOI: 10.1093/europace/eut369]

Anderson 2014

Anderson LJ, Taylor RS. Cardiac rehabilitation for people with heart disease: an overview of Cochrane systematic reviews. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 12. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011273.pub2]

Anderson 2016

Anderson L, Oldridge N, Zwisler AD, Rees K, Martin N, Taylor RS. Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for coronary heart disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2016, Issue 1. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001800.pub3]

Andrews 2013a

Andrews J, Guyatt G, Oxman AD, Alderson P, DahmP, Falck-Ytter Y, et al. GRADE guidelines: 14. Going from evidence to recommendations: the significance and presentation of recommendations. *Journal of ClinicalEpidemiology* 2013;**66**(7):719-25.

Andrews 2013b

Andrews JC, Schünemann HJ, Oxman AD, Pottie K, Meerpohl JJ, Coello PA, et al. GRADE guidelines: 15. Going from evidence to recommendation - determinants of a recommendation's direction and strength. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2013;**66**(7):726-35.

ATS statement 2002

ATS Committee on Proficiency Standards for Clinical Pulmonary Function Laboratories. ATS statement: guidelines for the six-minute walk test. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2002;**166**(1):111–7.

Atwood 2007

Atwood JE, Myers JN, Tang XC, Reda DJ, Singh SN, Singh BN. Exercise capacity in atrial fibrillation: a substudy of the Sotalol-amiodarone Atrial Fibrillation Efficacy trial (SAFE-T). *American Heart Journal* 2007;**153**(4):566–72.

BACPR 2012

British Association for Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation. Cardiovascular disease prevention and rehabilitation 2012. www.bacpr.com/resources/ 46C^{BACPR'Standards and Core^{Components 2012.pdf} (accessed 2 February 2017); Vol. 2nd edition.}

Ball 2013

Ball J, Carrington MJ, McMurray JJV, Steward S. Atrial fibrillation: profile and burden of an evolving epidemic in the 21st century. *International Journal of Cardiology* 2013; **167**(5):1807–24.

Balshem 2011

Balshem H, Helfand M, Schū nemann HJ, Oxman AD, Kunz R, Brozek J, et al. GRADE guidelines: 3. Rating the quality of evidence. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2011; **64**(4):401-6. [PUBMED: 21208779]

Berg 2015

Berg SK, Pedersen PU, Zwisler AD, Winkel P, Gluud C, Pedersen BD, et al. Comprehensive cardiac rehabilitation improves outcome for patients with implantable cardioverter defibrillator. Findings from the COPE-ICD randomised clinical trial. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing* 2015;**14**(1):34–44.

Blair 1996

Blair SN, Kampert JB, Kohl HW 3rd, Barlow CE, Macera CA, Paffenbarger RS Jr, et al. Influences of cardiorespiratory fitness and other precursors on cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality in men and women. *JAMA* 1996;**276** (3):205–10.

Brenyo 2011

Brenyo AJ, Aktas MK. Non-pharmacologic management of atrial fibrillation. *American Journal of Cardiology* 2011;**108** (2):317–25.

Brunetti 2013

Brunetti M, Shemilt I, Pregno S, Vale L, Oxman AD, Lord J, et al. GRADE guidelines: 10. Considering resource use and rating the quality of economic evidence. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2013;**66**(2):140-50.

Calkins 2009

Calkins H, Reynolds MR, Spector P, Sondhi M, Xu Y, Martin A, et al. Treatment of atrial fibrillation with antiarrhythmic drugs or radiofrequency ablation: two systematic literature reviews and meta-analyses. *Circulation. Arrhythmia and Electrophysiology* 2009;**2**(4):349–61.

Camm 2010

Camm AJ, Kirchhof P, Lip GY, Schotten U, Savelieva I, Ernst S, et al. Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation: the task force for the management of atrial fibrillation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). *Europace* 2010;**12**(10):1360–420.

Camm 2012

Camm AJ, Lip GY, De Caterina R, Savelieva I, Atar D, Hohnloser SH, et al. ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines-CPG, Document Reviewers. 2012 focused update of the ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation: an update of the 2010 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation - developed with the special contribution of the European Heart Rhythm Association. *European Heart Journal* 2012;**33**(21):2719–47.

Chan 2013

Chan AW, Tetzlaff JM, Altman DG, Laupacis A, Gøtzsche PC, Krlež a-Jerić K, et al. SPIRIT 2013 statement: defining standard protocol items for clinical trials. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2013;**158**(3):200–7.

Chen 2012

Chen HS, Wen JM, Wu SN, Liu JP. Catheter ablation for paroxysmal and persistent atrial fibrillation. *Cochrane*

Database of Systematic Reviews 2012, Issue 4. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD007101.pub2]

Clausen 1976

Clausen JP, Trap-Jensen J. Heart rate and arterial blood pressure during exercise in patients with angina pectoris: effects of exercise training and of nitroglycerin. *Circulation* 1976;**53**:436–42.

Dabrowski 2010

Dabrowski R, Smolis-Bak E, Kowalik I, Kazimierska B, Wojcicka M, Szwed H. Quality of life and depression in patients with different patterns of atrial fibrillation. *Kardiologia Polska* 2010;**68**(10):1133–9.

Deeks 2011

Deeks JJ, Higgins JPT, Altman DG (editors). Chaptor 9: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. In: Higgins JP, Green S, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from handbook.cochrane.org.

DeMets 1987

DeMets DL. Methods for combining randomized clinical trials: strengths and limitations. *Statistics in Medicine* 1987; **6**(3):341–50.

DerSimonian 1986

DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. *Controlled Clinical Trials* 1986;7(3):177–88.

Dorian 2000

Dorian P, Jung W, Newman D, Paquette M, Wood K, Ayers GM, et al. The impairment of health-related quality of life in patients with intermittent atrial fibrillation: implications for the assessment of investigational therapy. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2000;**36**(4):1303–9.

Dorian 2002

Dorian P, Paquette M, Newman D, Green M, Connolly SJ, Talajic M, et al. Quality of life improves with treatment in the Canadian trial of atrial fibrillation. *American Heart Journal* 2002;**143**(6):884–990.

Furukawa 2006

Furukawa TA, Barbuib C, Ciprianib A, Brambillac P, Watanabe N. Imputing missing standard deviations in meta-analyses can provide accurate results. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2006;**59**(1):7–10.

Giacomantonio 2013

Giacomantonio NB, Bredin SS, Foulds HJ, Warburton DE. A systematic review of the health benefits of exercise rehabilitation in persons living with atrial fibrillation. *Canadian Journal of Cardiology* 2013;**29**(4):483–91.

Go 2001

Go AS, Hylek EM, Phillips KA, Chang Y, Henault LE, Selby JV, et al. Prevalence of diagnosed atrial fibrillation in adults: national implications for rhythm management and stroke prevention: the AnTicoagulation and Risk Factors in Atrial Fibrillation (ATRIA) Study. *JAMA* 2001;**285**(18): 2370–5.

GRADEpro GDT 2014 [Computer program]

GRADE Working Group, McMaster University. GRADEpro GDT. Version accessed 14 July 2016. Hamilton (ON): GRADE Working Group, McMaster University, 2014.

Gremeaux 2011

Gremeaux V, Troisgros O, Benaïm S, Hannequin A, Laurent Y, Casillas JM, et al. Determining the minimal clinically important difference for the six-minute walk test and the 200-meter fast-walk test during cardiac rehabilitation program in coronary artery disease patients after acute coronary syndrome. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 2011;**92**:611–9.

Guyatt 2008

Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Vist GE, Kunz R, Falck-Ytter Y, Alonso-Coello P, et al. GRADE Working Group. GRADE: an emerging consensus on rating quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. *BMJ* 2008;**336**(7650): 924–6.

Guyatt 2011a

Guyatt G, Oxman AD, Akl EA, Kunz R, Vist G, Brozek J, et al. GRADE guidelines: 1. Introduction-GRADE evidence profiles and summary of findings tables. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2011;**64**(4):383-94. [PUBMED: 21195583]

Guyatt 2011b

Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Kunz R, Atkins D, BrozekJ, Vist G, et al. GRADE guidelines: 2. Framing the question and deciding on important outcomes. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2011;**64**(4):395-400. [PUBMED: 21194891]

Guyatt 2011c

Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Vist G, Kunz R, Brozek J, Alonso-Coello P, et al. GRADE guidelines: 4. Rating the quality of evidence-study limitations (risk of bias). *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2011;**64**(4):407–15. [PUBMED: 21247734]

Guyatt 2011d

Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Montori V, Vist G, Kunz R, Brozek J, et al. GRADE guidelines: 5. Rating the quality of evidence--publication bias. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2011;**64**(12):1277-82. [PUBMED: 21802904]

Guyatt 2011e

Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Kunz R, Brozek J, Alonso-CoelloP, Rind D, et al. GRADE guidelines 6. Rating the quality of evidence-imprecision. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2011;**64**(12):1283-93.

Guyatt 2011f

Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Kunz R, Woodcock J, Brozek J, Helfand M, et al. GRADE guidelines: 7. Rating the quality of evidence-inconsistency. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2011;**64**(12):1294–302. [PUBMED: 21803546]

Guyatt 2011g

Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Kunz R, Woodcock J, Brozek J, Helfand M, et al. GRADE guidelines: 8. Rating the quality of evidence--indirectness. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2011;**64**(12):1303-10. [PUBMED: 21802903]

Guyatt 2011h

Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Sultan S, Glasziou P, Akl EA, Alonso-Coello P, et al. GRADE guidelines: 9. Rating up the quality of evidence. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2011;**64**(12):1311-6. [PUBMED: 21802902]

Guyatt 2013a

Guyatt G, Oxman AD, Sultan S, Brozek J, Glasziou P, Alonso-Coello P, et al. GRADE guidelines: 11. Makingan overall rating of confidence in effect estimates for a single outcome and for all outcomes. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2013;**66**(2):151-7. [PUBMED: 22542023]

Guyatt 2013b

Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Santesso N, Helfand M, Vist G, Kunz R, et al. GRADE guidelines: 12. Preparing summary of findings tables-binary outcomes. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2013;**66**(2):158-72. [PUBMED: 22609141]

Guyatt 2013c

Guyatt GH, Thorlund K, Oxman AD, Walter SD, PatrickD, Furukawa TA, et al. GRADE guidelines: 13. Preparing summary of findings tables and evidence profilescontinuous outcomes. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2013;**66**(2):173-83. [PUBMED: 23116689]

Hambrecht 2000

Hambrecht R, Gielen S, Linke A, Fiehn E, Yu J, Walther C, et al. Effects of exercise training on left ventricular function and peripheral resistance in patients with chronic heart failure: a randomised trial. *JAMA* 2000;**283**(23): 3095–101.

Hawley 2014

Hawley JA, Hargreaves M, Joyner MJ, Zierath JR. Integrative biology of exercise. *Cell* 2014;**159**(4):738–49.

Hendriks 2012

Hendriks JM, De Wit R, Crijns HJ, Vrijhoef HJ, Prins MH, Pisters R, et al. Nurse-led care vs. usual care for patients with atrial fibrillation: results of a randomized trial of integrated chronic care vs. routine clinical care in ambulatory patients with atrial fibrillation. *European Heart Journal* 2012;**33**(21):2692–9.

Hendriks 2014

Hendriks JML, Vrijhoef HJM, Crijns HJGM, Rocca HPBL. The effect of a nurse-led integrated chronic care approach on quality of life in patients with atrial fibrillation. *Europace* 2014;**16**(4):491–9.

Higgins 2011

Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from handbook.cochrane.org.

Higgins 2011a

Higgins JPT, Altman DG, Sterne JAC (editors). Chaptor 8: Assessing risk of bias in included studies. In: Higgins JP, Green S, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from handbook.cochrane.org. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.

Higgins 2011b

Higgins JPT, Deeks JJ, Altman DG (editors). Chapter 16: Special topics in statistics. In: Higgins JP, Green S, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from handbook.cochrane.org.

ICH-GCP 2015

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. International Conference on Harmonisation Guideline for International conference on harmonisation of technical requirements for registration of pharmaceuticals for human use. ICH Harmonised Guideline. Integrated addendum to ICH E6(R1). Guideline for Good Clinical Practice E6(R2). http://www.ich.org/fileadmin/ Public`Web`Site/ICH`Products/Guidelines/Efficacy/E6/ E6`R1`Guideline.pdf (accessed 7 February 2017) June 11 2015.

Jakobsen 2013

Jakobsen JC, Gluud C. The necessity of randomized clinical trials. *British Journal of Medicine & Medical Research* 2013;**3** (4):1453–2013.

Kang 2004

Kang Y, Bahler R. Health-related quality of life in patients newly diagnosed with atrial fibrillation. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing* 2004;**April 3rd**(1):71–6.

Kirchhof 2007

Kirchhof P, Auricchio A, Bax J, Crijns H, Camm J, Diener HC, et al. Outcome parameters for trials in atrial fibrillation: recommendations from a consensus conference organized by the German Atrial Fibrillation Competence NETwork and the European Heart Rhythm Association. *Europace* 2007;9(11):1006–23.

Kirchhof 2016

Kirchhof P, Benussi S, Kotecha D, Ahlsson A, Atar D, Casadei B, et al. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with EACTS. *Europace* 2016;**18**(11):1609–78. [10.1093/europace/ euw295 ESC]

Lafuente-Lafuente 2012

Lafuente-Lafuente C, Mouly S, Longas-Tejero MA, Bergman JF. Antiarrhythmics for maintaining sinus rhythm after cardioversion of atrial fibrillation. *Cochrane Database* of *Systematic Reviews* 2012, Issue 5. [DOI: 10.1002/ 14651858.CD005049.pub3]

Lane 2015

Lane DA, Aguinaga L, Blomstrom-Lundqvist C, Boriani G, Dan GA, Hills MT el al. Cardiac tachyarrhythmias and patient values and preferences for their management: the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA) consensus document endorsed by the Heart Rhythm Society (HRS), Asia Pacific Heart Rhythm Society (APHRS), and

Sociedad Latinoamericana de Estimulacion Cardı aca

y Electrofisiologi ´ a (SOLEACE). *Europace* 2015;**1**7: 1747–69.

Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{0}}$ 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Lefebvre 2011

Lefebvre C, Manheimer E, Glanville J. Chapter 6: Searching for studies. In: Higgins JP, Green S, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from handbook.cochrane.org.

Levy 1998

Levy WC, Cerqueira MD, Harp GD, Jahannessen KA, Abass IB, Schwartz RS, et al. Effect of endurance exercise training on heart rate variability at rest in healthy young and older men. *American Journal of Cardiology* 1998;**82**: 1236–41.

Loke 2011

Loke YK, Price D, Herxheimer A. Chapter 14: Adverse effects. In: Higgins JP, Green S, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from handbook.cochrane.org.

Lowres 2011

Lowres N, Neubeck L, Freedman SB, Briffa T, Bauman A, Redfern J. Lifestyle risk reduction interventions in atrial fibrillation: a systematic review. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology* 2011;**19**(5):1091–100.

McCabe 2011

McCabe PJ, Schumacher K, Barnason SA. Living with atrial fibrillation: a qualitative study. *Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing* 2011;**26**(4):336–44.

Mustafa 2013

Mustafa RA, Santesso N, Brozek J, Akl EA, Walter SD, Norman G, et al. The GRADE approach is reproducible in assessing the quality of evidence of quantitative evidence syntheses. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2013;**66**(7): 736–42. [PUBMED: 23623694]

Myers 2002

Myers J, Prakash M, Froelicher V, Do D, Partington S, Atwood JE. Exercise capacity and mortality among men referred for exercise testing. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2002;**346**(11):793–801.

National Board of Health 2013

The Danish National Board of Health. National clinical guidelines for heart rehabilitation [National klinisk retningslinje for hjerterehabilitering]. Report 2013; Vol. Available from sundhedsstyrelsen.dk/-/media/F276E39E72CE4D918C44CA47FF35378A.ashx, issue accessed 1 June 2014.

Nguyen 2013

Nguyen TN, Hilmer SN, Cumming RG. Review of epidemiology and management of atrial fibrillation in developing countries. *International Journal of Cardiology* 2013;**167**(6):2412–20.

Piepoli 2014

Piepoli MF, Corrà U, Adamopoulos S, Benzer W, Bjarnason-Wehrens B, Cupples M, et al. Secondary prevention in the clinical management of patients with cardiovascular diseases. Core components, standards and outcome measures for referral and delivery: a policy statement from the cardiac rehabilitation section of the European Association for Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation. Endorsed by the Committee for Practice Guidelines of the European Society of Cardiology. *Journal of Preventive Cardiology* 2014;**21**(6):664–81.

Plisiene 2008

Plisiene J, Blumberg A, Haager G, Knackstedt C, Latsch J, Norra C, et al. Moderate physical exercise: a simplified approach for ventricular rate control in older patients with atrial fibrillation. *Clinical Research in Cardiology* 2008;**97** (11):820–6.

Reed 2013

Reed JL, Mark AE, Reid RD, Pipe AL. The effects of chronic exercise training in individuals with permanent atrial fibrillation: a systematic review. *Canadian Journal of Cardiology* 2013;29:1721–8.

RevMan 5 2014 [Computer program]

The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration. Review Manager 5 (RevMan 5). Version 5.3. Copenhagen: The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014.

Ruigomez 2005

Ruigomez A, Johansson S, Wallander MA, Garcia Rodriguez LA. Predictors and prognosis of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation in general practice in the UK. *BMC Cardiovascular Disorders* 2005;**5**:20.

Savovic 2012

Savovic J, Jones H, Altman D, Harris R, Juni P, Pildal J, et al. Influence of reported study design characteristics on intervention effect estimates from randomised controlled trials: combined analysis of meta-epidemiological studies. *Health Technology Assessment* 2012;**16**(35):1–82.

Sterne 2011

Sterne JAC, Egger M, Moher D (editors). Chaptor 10: Adressing reporting biases. In: Higgins JP, Green S, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from handbook.cochrane.org.

Stewart 2001

Stewart S, Hart CL, Hole DJ, McMurray JJV. Population prevalence, incidence, and predictors of atrial fibrillation in the Renfrew/Paisley study. *Heart* 2001;**86**(5):516–21.

Stewart 2002

Stewart S, Hart CL, Hole DJ, McMurray JJ. A populationbased study of the long-term risks associated with atrial fibrillation: 20-year follow-up of the Renfrew/Paisley study. *American Journal of Medicine* 2002;**113**(5):359–64.

Taylor 2014

Taylor RS, Sagar VA, Davies EJ, Briscoe S, Coats AJ, Dalal H, et al. Exercise-based rehabilitation for heart failure. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 4. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003331.pub4]

Thorlund 2009a

Thorlund K, Devereaux PJ, Wetterslev J, Guyatt G, Ioannidis JP, Thabane L, et al. Can trial sequential monitoring boundaries reduce spurious inferences from meta-analyses?. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 2009; **38**(1):276–86.

Thorlund 2009b

Thorlund K, Engstrøm J, Wetterslev J, Brok J, Imberger G, Gluud C, The Copenhagen Trial Unit. User manual for Trial Sequential Analysis (TSA). Available from www.ctu.dk/tsa/files/tsa manual.pdf (accessed 15 January 2014).

Thrall 2006

Thrall G, Lane D, Carroll D, Lip GY. Quality of life in patients with atrial fibrillation: a systematic review. *American Journal of Medicine* 2006;**119**(5):448.e1–19.

TSA 2011 [Computer program]

TSA. Trial Sequential Analysis. Copenhagen: The Copenhagen Trial Unit, 2011.

Wetterslev 2008

Wetterslev J, Thorlund K, Brok J, Gluud C. Trial sequential

analysis may establish when firm evidence is reached in cumulative meta-analysis. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2008;**61**(1):64–75.

Wetterslev 2009

Wetterslev J, Thorlund K, Brok J, Gluud C. Estimating required information size by quantifying diversity in random-effects model meta-analysis. *BMC Medical Research Methodology* 2009;**9**:86.

Wise 2005

Wise RA, Brown CD. Minimal clinically important differences in the six-minute walk test and the incremental shuttle walking test. *COPD* 2005;**2**(1):125–9.

Wood 2008

Wood L, Egger M, Gluud LL, Schulz KF, Jüni P, Altman DG, et al. Empirical evidence of bias in treatment effect estimates in controlled trials with different interventions and outcomes: meta-epidemiological study. *BMJ* 2008;**336** (7644):601–5.

* Indicates the major publication for the study

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by year of study]

Hegbom 2006

Methods	RCT cross-over design, Single centre Norway					
Participants	N = 30 (Intervention N = 15; control N = 15). Numbers of participants lost to follow up: 2. Number of early drop outs: 1. Number with complications:1 (respiratory infection). Sex: male 87.5%. Age: Intervention 62 years (SD 7); control: 62 years (SD 7.) Diagnosis; AF type: Permanent AF. Ethnicity: Not reported. Inclusion: Permanent AF, age younger than 75 years, and willing to participate in a 2- month training program Exclusion: Patients who already participated in exercise training more than twice weekly, who had medical contraindications to exercise, or those unable to participate for any logistic reason Time after hospitalisation: Not reported.					
Interventions	Intervention: Duration: 1.25 hr class, 3 sessions/week for 8 weeks. Consisting of 5 minutes of warm-up, three 15-minute periods of aerobics at HRmax, interrupted by strengthening exercise for the back, thighs, and stomach. The session ended with a 5-minute cool down followed by 15 minutes of stretching and relaxation. intensity: 70% to 90% of maximum heart rate. Modality: Not reported. The sessions were supervised and held at one of two rehabilitation centres Control:Controls did not perform physical exercise. Other: Patients were also encouraged to be generally physically active during the training period					
Outcomes	Relevant outcomes: QoL by SF-36, exercise testing by cycle ergometer test, measured by cumulated work that was calculated by adding the workload every minute, symptoms severity checklist Other outcomes: 24-hour Holter recording, activities of daily living					
Notes	follow up 8 weeks.					
Risk of bias						
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement				
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	not described.				
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	not described.				
Hegbom 2006 (Continued)

Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	not described.
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	not described.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Less than 10% of the participants were not analysed.
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Unclear risk	We could not identify any protocol pub- lished before the trial was conducted. All outcomes described in the method section of the paper were reported
Groups balanced at baseline	Low risk	Groups were balanced at baseline according to the authors.
Groups received same intervention (perfor- mance bias)	Unclear risk	Both groups received an exercise training programme, but one group worked as con- trol group
For-profit-bias	Unclear risk	Not described.
Intention-to-treat	High risk	Intention-to-treat not used.

Pippa 2007

Methods	RCT; Single centre, Italy; 16-week follow-up
Participants	N = 43 (Intervention N = 22; control N = 21). Numbers of participants lost to follow up: 0. Number of early drop outs: 3. Number with complications: 2 (one with retinal embolism and one had deep vein throm- bosis) Sex: male Intervention 63.6%; control 76.2%. Age: Intervention 68.3 years (SD 7.2); control 67.8 years (SD 9.1) Diagnosis; AF type: Permanent AF defined as at least 3 months with AF Ethnicity: 100% Caucasian. Inclusion: diagnosed with AF at least 3 months prior, and were taking anticoagulant treatment for at least 2 months Exclusion: ejection fraction < 30%, New York Heart Association class III-IV, or both, history or suspicion of a recent thromboembolic event, recent heart rate instability, or other indication for electrocardiographic monitoring during exercise training, chronic systemic diseases in the acute phase, bone or joint conditions limiting exercise training, major logistic impairments, involvement in regular training programs, and inability to give informed consent

Pippa 2007 (Continued)

	Time after hospitalisation: Not reported.	
Interventions	Intervention: program consisted of two sessions/week (90 min) for 16 weeks of qigong. Qigong consist of slow and graceful movements with a focus on breathing. All classes were assisted by a physician and a therapist. Qigong is reported to induce emotional control, increase muscle tone, and enhance body flexibility and strength Control: No intervention. Other: All patients: before the start of the study, all participants revised 2 hours of training on best practices for cardiovascular risk management	
Outcomes	Relevant outcomes: 6-minute walking test, serious adverse events Other outcomes: Ejection fraction, Body mass index, biochemical markers	
Notes	follow-up at 16 weeks.	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Low risk	Random numbers table.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	The randomisation was computer-gener- ated.
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not described.
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not described.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Analyses were carried out on all 43 partic- ipants.
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Unclear risk	We could not identify any protocol pub- lished before the trial was conducted. All outcomes described in methods section of the paper were reported
Groups balanced at baseline	Low risk	Groups were balanced at baseline, accord- ing to the authors.
Groups received same intervention (perfor- mance bias)	Unclear risk	Both Intervention and control groups re- ceived two hours of cardiovascular disease training, but did not describe what else the control group received

Pippa 2007 (Continued)

For-profit-bias	Unclear risk	Not described.
Intention-to-treat	Low risk	The term intention-to-treat (ITT) was not stated, but it was clear from the paper that the results were analysed according to ITT analyses

Osbak 2011

Methods	RCT; single centre, Denmark	
Participants	N = 49, (Intervention N = 25; control N = 24). Numbers of participants lost to follow up: 0. Number of early drop outs: 2. Number with complications: 2 (one had influenza and one needed surgery) Sex: male 74.5%. Age: Intervention 69.5 years (SD 7.3); control 70.9 years (SD 8.3) Diagnosis: AF type: permanent AF. Ethnicity: not reported. Inclusion: adults with permanent AF who were willing to participate in a training pro- gram and able to give informed consent for participation Exclusion: severe CHF (New York Heart Association classes III-IV), severe refractory hypertension, previous heart valve surgery, moderate to severe pulmonary disease, low life expectancy, and lack of ability to exercise time after hospitalisation: Not reported.	
Interventions	Intervention: duration: 3 sessions/week; 1-hour classes for 12 weeks; including aerobic training, cool down and warm-up periods, at least 30 min by Borg 14 to 16 corresponding to 70% of maximal exercise capacity. The exercise was carried out by ergometer cycling, walking on stairs, running, fitness training on physioballs, and interval training. The exercise sessions were carried out in groups of five lead by a physiotherapist Other: exercise component was based on the ETICA trial. Encouraged to do light exercise for 30 min daily Standard care group: They were advised to continue their habitual physical activity	
Outcomes	Relevant outcomes: Ergometer testing, 6-minute walking test, health-related quality of life measured by SF-36 and Minnesota Living with Heart Failure questionnaire Other outcomes: CO measure by cardioScreen, blood samples - natriuretic peptides (ANP, NT, BNP) Data on serious adverse events were obtained directly from authors	
Notes	follow-up 12 weeks	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement

Osbak 2011 (Continued)

Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Low risk	Generated by a random list.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Randomisation was carried out by envelopes contain- ing either the text 'control' or 'active'. There was no information about the distribution of the envelopes
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Ergometer test: "A physician and a research assistant blinded to the group allocation status of the patients were present. However, remarks were sometimes made by the patient hinting to their trial status. In an exer- cise study, it is not possible to keep the study double blinded. Obviously, the patients knew which group they belonged to, but we have tried to maintain blinding as far as possible for the examiner."
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not described.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	No drop-outs and all participants were included in the analysis
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	All outcomes described in methods were reported, but adverse events and safety were added
Groups balanced at baseline	Low risk	Judging from the baseline tables, groups were balanced at baseline
Groups received same intervention (perfor- mance bias)	Unclear risk	Not clear. The control patients were advised to continue a habitual physical activity. Standard care not described
For-profit-bias	Low risk	The study was supported by grants from the Danish Medical Association Research Foundation, Hvidovre Hospital Research Foundation, and Lundbeck Founda- tion
Intention-to-treat	Low risk	The term 'intention-to-treat' was not stated, but it was clear from the paper that the results were analysed ac- cording to ITT

Risom 2016

Methods	RCT; two centres, Denmark.
Participants	N = 210, (Intervention N = 105; control N = 105). Numbers of participants lost to follow up: 3. Number of early drop-outs: N = 17 (Intervention N = 10; control N = 7) Number with complications: 2 deaths not related to the trial (Intervention = 2; control = 1); 1 serious adverse event (Intervention) related to the trial; 23 adverse events (Inter- vention = 16; control = 7) related to the trial Sex: male 70% intervention; 73% control. Age: Intervention 60 years (SD 9); control: 59 years (SD 12.25) Diagnosis: AF type: paroxysmal or persistent AF. Ethnicity: not reported. Inclusion criteria: consecutive patients planned for treatment with radiofrequency catheter ablation for AF were screened for inclusion. Patients ≥18 years of age, Danish speaking, and providing oral and written informed consent Exclusion criteria: unable to understand trial instructions, pregnant or breastfeeding, reduced ability to follow the planned programme due to other physical illness, prior to RFA had been engaged in intense physical exercise or sports at a competitive level several times a week, did not wish to participate, or were enrolled in a clinical trial that prohibited participation in additional trials. Time after hospitalisation: patients were approached by the trial nurse for information about the trial after ablation procedure
Interventions	Physical exercise Intervention: duration: 3 sessions/week, 1-hour classes for 12 weeks; The training program consisted of graduated cardiovascular training based on intensity prescription using the Borg 15-point scale and strength exercises altered stepwise during training sessions. Training intensity was progressively increased during the 12 weeks The program was initiated with one mandatory training session at the hospital; the continuing physical exercise program was then offered in three locations according to the patient's preference: (1) supervised training at hospital; (2) local trial protocol-certified, supervised facility; or (3) home-based training with physiotherapist contact when needed Psycho-educational intervention: duration: 4 consultations/6 months; Education and information were provided about AF to prepare the patients for expected symptoms, and a consultation guide was developed to ensure that certain areas were discussed, e. g. the ablation and fear of AF recurrence. The psycho-educational consultations were inspired by R.R. Parse's Human becoming practice methodologies theory. Furthermore, the consultations complied with recommendations on the use of patient education and psychosocial support in secondary prevention. Two cardiac care nurses were trained in the theory and conducted the consultations, a physician could be contacted if needed. Consultations were performed face-to-face or by telephone Standard care group: The usual care group followed usual care for patients treated for AF with RFA, which included a 3- to 6-month follow-up consultation with a physician at the treating hospital and no further rehabilitation or after-care. Usual care was the same in both included hospitals
Outcomes	Relevant outcomes: mortality, serious adverse events, and adverse events, physical ca- pacity measured by VO2 testing, health-related quality of life measured by Short Form- 36, and anxiety and depression measured by Hospital Anxiety and Depression scale, 6- minute walking test, sit-to-stand test Raw data on quality of life and 6-minute walking test were obtained directly from authors

Notes	follow-up 6 months.	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Low risk	Patients were randomised 1:1 to comprehensive cardiac rehabilitation plus usual care versus usual care alone, using a computer-generated allocation sequence with a varying block size of 6, 8, and 12
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Randomizstion was carried out centrally by a computer, and was obtained by telephone
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Patients were not blinded to which intervention group they were in. Outcome assessment staff were blinded to which group patients were allocated
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	"Outcome assessment including ergospirometry testing, data management, and analyses were undertaken by re- search staff masked to group allocation."
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	17 drop-outs (10 intervention, 37 control), were han- dled by using intention-to-treat analyses
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	A protocol describing the trial was published. All out- comes described in the methods section were reported in the results section of the paper. Other outcomes were described in the protocol and will be reported elsewhere
Groups balanced at baseline	Low risk	Judging from the baseline table, groups were balanced at baseline
Groups received same intervention (perfor- mance bias)	Low risk	Patients in the experimental cardiac rehabilitation group followed a comprehensive programme consisting of ex- ercise training and psycho-educational consultations plus usual care. The usual care consisted of a 3- to 6- month follow-up consultation with a physician at the treating hospital, and no further rehabilitation or after- care. Usual care was the same in both included hospitals
For-profit-bias	Low risk	"This trial was supported by the Danish Strategic Research Council, The Heart Centre, Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark, Metropolitan University Col- lege, Copenhagen, Denmark, The Copenhagen Trial Unit, Denmark and The Lundbeck Foundation, Den- mark."

Risom 2016 (Continued)

Intention-to-treat	Low risk	ITT was used in the analyses.
Malmo 2016		
Methods	RCT; single centre, Norway.	
Participants	N = 51, (Intervention N = 26; control N = 25). Numbers of participants lost to follow up: 0. Number of early drop outs: 0. Number with complications: 1 in the control group (1 stroke) Sex: male 77% intervention; 88% control. Age: Intervention 56 years (SD 8); control 62 years (SD 9). Diagnosis; AF type: symptomatic, ECG-documented, non-permanent AF Ethnicity: not reported. Inclusion: symptomatic, ECG-documented, non-permanent AF who were referred for first AF ablation, or to the outpatient clinic Exclusion: performing endurance training at high intensity > 2 times a week or at mod- erate intensity for > 3 times a week, previous open heart surgery, left ventricular ejection fraction < 45%, significant cardiac valve disease, implanted cardiac pacemaker, coronary artery disease without complete revascularization, or inability to accomplish the exercise programme Time after hospitalisation: Patients were recruited when referred for first AF ablation or to the outpatient clinic	
Interventions	Intervention: duration: 3 sessions/week for 12 weeks; including aerobic training, warm- up and cool down periods, with four 4-minute intervals at 85% to 90% of maximal heart rate and Borg 6 to 20. The exercise was walking or running on a treadmill. The exercise sessions were carried out in a facility with the option of one additional exercise session at home when trained in using the heart monitor Standard care group: continued their previous exercise habits	
Outcomes	Relevant outcomes: Change in time in AF from baseline to follow-up, AF symptoms, exercise capacity measured as peak oxygen uptake (VO2 peak), health-related quality of life measured by SF-36 and AF symptoms and severity checklist, and number of cardioversions and hospital admissions resulting from AF Other outcomes: lipid status, cardiac volumes, level of physical activity	
Notes	follow-up 20 weeks.	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	not described.

Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation (Review)

Allocation concealment (selection bias)

Copyright © 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Unclear risk

not described.

Malmo 2016 (Continued)

Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Patients were not blinded to which intervention group they were in. "The investigators performing the data analyses were blinded for intervention identity, and none of the study investigators were involved in treatment of the patients."
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	"The investigators performing the data analyses were blinded for intervention identity."
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	No drop-outs and all participants were included in the analysis
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	All outcomes described in methods were reported, adverse events and safety were added
Groups balanced at baseline	Low risk	Judging from the baseline tables, groups were balanced at baseline, only differences in patients age were reported
Groups received same intervention (perfor- mance bias)	High risk	The control patients were advised to continue their ha- bitual physical activity. Standard care not described
For-profit-bias	Low risk	The study was supported by grants from the Norwe- gian Council of Cardiovascular Disease (Oslo, Norway) , Liaison Committee between the Central Norway Re- gional Health Authority and the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (Trondheim, Norway), K.G. Jebsen Foundation, and SINTEF Unimed (Trondheim, Norway)
Intention-to-treat	Low risk	All patients completed the intervention and were in- cluded in the analysis
Zeren 2016		
Methods	RCT; single centre, Turkey.	
Participants	N = 38, (Intervention N = 19; control N = 19). Numbers of participants lost to follow up: 3. Number of early drop outs: 2. Number with complications: not reported. Sex: male 47% intervention, 56% control. Age: Intervention 66.18 years (SD 8.76); control 67.06 years (SD 6.39) Diagnosis: AF type: permanent AF.	

Ethnicity: not reported. Inclusion: clinically stable, left ventricular ejection fraction above 40% and New York Heart Association Class I (cardiac disease, but no symptoms and no limitation in ordinary physical activity, e.g. no shortness of breath when walking, climbing stairs, etc.), and

Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation (Review)

Copyright © 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Zeren 2016 (Continued)

	Class II (mild symptoms (mild shortness of breath and/or angina) and slight limitation during ordinary activity) Exclusion: chronic obstructive lung disease, rheumatic valvular heart disease, previous heart valve surgery, recent coronary bypass surgery (three months prior to study), acute myocardial infarction, hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy, and having a pace- maker time after hospitalisation: not reported.
Interventions	Intervention: duration: 15 minutes twice a day, 7 days a week, for 12 weeks. Once a week patients in the training group came to the department, had their maximal inspiratory pressure measured again, and received a supervised inspiratory muscle training session. Intervention: threshold inspiratory muscle trainer (Threshold IMT) device (Respironics, U.S.) was used for inspiratory muscle training. The training group received inspiratory muscle training at 30% of maximal inspiratory pressure. Patients were instructed to maintain diaphragmatic breathing with the device for five breaths and rest for 5 to 10 seconds before the next five breaths. All patients wore nose-clips during training Standard medical treatment of permanent atrial fibrillation was based on the ventricular rate control and antithrombotic therapy, for the purpose of preventing atrial fibrillation-related complications and thromboembolism
Outcomes	Relevant outcomes: functional capacity measured by 6-minute walking test Other outcomes: pulmonary function, respiratory muscle strength
Notes	follow-up 12 weeks.

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Low risk	A numbered series of 38 prefilled envelops specifying group assignment were used
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Randomisation was carried out by a computer-based pro- gram.
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Patients were not blinded to which intervention group they were in. "Patients' assessments and inspiratory muscle training were performed by different and blinded physio- therapists."
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	"The physiotherapist that collected the data was not aware of which patients belonged to the training group or the control group. Patients' assessments and inspiratory mus- cle training were performed by different physiotherapists. "
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	5 drop-outs (2 intervention group, 3 control group); they were not included in the analysis

Zeren 2016 (Continued)

Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	All outcomes described in the methods were reported.
Groups balanced at baseline	Low risk	Judging from the baseline table, groups were balanced at baseline
Groups received same intervention (perfor- mance bias)	Low risk	"Standard medical treatment of permanent atrial fibril- lation was based on the ventricular rate control and an- tithrombotic therapy, for the purpose of preventing atrial fibrillation-related complications and thromboembolism. "
For-profit-bias	Low risk	The researchers were not financially supported to conduct the trial
Intention-to-treat	High risk	ITT was not used in the analysis.

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Angergard K 2015	No intervention was applied.
Borland 2015	The control group also received the intervention.
Frederix 2015	The study evaluated the cost-effectiveness of a comprehensive cardiac telerehabilitation programme for various patients with different heart diseases who had participated in cardiac rehabilitation
Kim 2014	The study evaluated the influence of atrial fibrillation on the clinical characteristics and rehabilitation outcomes of patients with cerebral infarction
Mertens 1996	The study was not randomised
Vanhees 2000	The study was not randomised

Characteristics of ongoing studies [ordered by study ID]

NCT01673139

Trial name or title	Effect of 3 years of exercise in patients with atrial fibrillation
Methods	RCT
Participants	150 70 to 75 year-old persons with atrial fibrillation included in the "Generation 100 study"

NCT01673139 (Continued)

Interventions	3 years of interval or moderate exercise
Outcomes	Primary outcome measures: change in burden of atrial fibrillation (timeframe: At baseline and 3 years); burden of atrial fibrillation measured by Holter monitor and the patient Secondary outcome measures: size of left ventricle, quality of life, endothelial function, diameter of brachial artery measured by ultrasound. maximal oxygen uptake, atrial extra systoles, number of hospitalisations with atrial fibrillation as main diagnosis, total number of electrical cardioversions, number of electrical cardiover- sions because of atrial fibrillation, size of left atrium, function of left atrium, function of left ventricle,
Starting date	September 2012
Contact information	Jan Paal Loennechen, Norweigian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim
Notes	Norway

NCT01721863

Trial name or title	Effects of exercise training in patients with permanent atrial fibrillation
Methods	RCT
Participants	58 patients with permanent atrial fibrillation
Interventions	Progressive aerobic exercise training with 40% to 85% maximal oxygen consumption for 40 minutes, 3 sessions per week for 12 weeks versus treatment as usual
Outcomes	Primary outcome measures: exercise capacity Secondary outcome measures: heart rate variability, change values of head-up tilt test, endothelial function, and quality of life
Starting date	2010
Contact information	Ying-Tai Wu, National Taiwan University Hospital, Department of Health
Notes	Taiwan

NCT01817998

Trial name or title	Atrial fibrillation (AF) and physical exercise (EXAF)
Methods	RCT
Participants	60 patients older than 18 years with ECG-documented paroxysmal or persistent AF
Interventions	Moderate to severe (80% to 85% of maximum capacity) or low intensity (50% of max capacity) training

NCT01817998 (Continued)

Outcomes	 The effect of physical exercise on AF burden. The effect of physical exercise on the risk of cardiovascular hospitalisation
Starting date	November 2012
Contact information	Ane Katrine Skielboe: a.k.skielboe@gmail.com Ulrik Dixen, Consultant: ulrik.dixen@regionh.dk
Notes	Denmark

DATA AND ANALYSES

Comparison 1. Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Mortality	6	421	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.0 [0.06, 15.78]
2 Mortality (worst-best case scenario)	6	421	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.83 [0.26, 2.65]
3 Mortality (best-worst case scenario)	6	421	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.59 [0.08, 4.35]
4 Serious adverse events	5	381	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.01 [0.98, 1.05]
5 Serious adverse events (worst-best case scenario)	5	383	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.46 [0.54, 3.97]
6 Serious adverse events (best-worst case scenario)	5	383	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.65 [0.19, 2.24]
7 Quality of life, SF-36, Physical Component Score	2	224	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	1.96 [-2.50, 6.42]
8 Quality of life, SF-36, Mental Component Score	2	224	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.99 [-0.48, 4.46]
9 Quality of Life, SF-36, Physical Function	3	274	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.46 [-1.26, 4.18]
10 Quality of Life, SF-36, Role-Physical	3	274	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	2.79 [-0.52, 6.10]
11 Quality of Life, SF-36, Bodily Pain	3	274	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.73 [-3.99, 5.45]
12 Quality of Life, SF-36, General Health	3	273	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	7.11 [3.46, 10.77]
13 Quality of Life, SF-36, Vitality	3	274	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	6.10 [1.91, 10.30]
14 Quality of Life, SF-36, Social Functioning	3	274	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	2.85 [-0.72, 6.41]
15 Quality of Life, SF-36, Role Emotional	3	275	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	2.91 [-1.69, 7.50]
16 Quality of Life, SF-36, Mental Health	3	274	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	2.09 [-1.08, 5.26]
17 Exercise capacity (VO2 peak)	2	208	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	3.76 [1.37, 6.15]
18 Exercise capacity (6MWT)	4	272	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	75.76 [14.00, 137. 53]
19 Exercise capacity (SMD)	6	359	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.86 [0.46, 1.26]

Analysis I.I. Comparison I Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome I Mortality.

Review: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Comparison: I Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome: I Mortality

Study or subgroup	Favours exercise	Favours no exercise	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H,Fixed,95% Cl		M-H,Fixed,95% Cl
Hegbom 2006	0/15	0/15			Not estimable
Pippa 2007	0/22	0/21			Not estimable
Osbak 2011	0/25	0/24			Not estimable
Malmo 2016	0/26	0/25			Not estimable
Risom 2016	1/105	1/105		100.0 %	1.00 [0.06, 15.78]
Zeren 2016	0/19	0/19			Not estimable
Total (95% CI)	212	209	-	100.0 %	1.00 [0.06, 15.78]
Total events: (Favours	exercise), I (Favours no	exercise)			
Heterogeneity: not app	licable				
Test for overall effect: Z	I = 0.0 (P = 1.0)				
Test for subgroup differ	ences: Not applicable				
			0.00 0.0 0.1 10 00 000		

Favours no exercise Favours exercise

Analysis I.2. Comparison I Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 2 Mortality (worst-best case scenario).

Review: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Comparison: I Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome: 2 Mortality (worst-best case scenario)

Study or subgroup	Favours exercise	Favours no exercise	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H,Fixed,95% Cl		M-H,Fixed,95% Cl
Hegbom 2006 (I)	2/15	0/15		8.3 %	5.00 [0.26, 96.13]
Pippa 2007	0/22	0/21			Not estimable
Osbak 2011	1/25	1/24		16.9 %	0.96 [0.06, 14.50]
Zeren 2016	0/19	3/19		58.1 %	0.14 [0.01, 2.59]
Malmo 2016	0/26	0/25			Not estimable
Risom 2016	1/105	1/105	_	16.6 %	1.00 [0.06, 15.78]
Total (95% CI)	212	209	-	100.0 %	0.83 [0.26, 2.65]
Total events: 4 (Favours e	exercise), 5 (Favours no exe	rcise)			
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 2.$	86, df = 3 (P = 0.41); l ² =0.	0%			
Test for overall effect: Z =	= 0.32 (P = 0.75)				
Test for subgroup differer	nces: Not applicable				
		C	0.01 0.1 1 10 100		
		Favou	rs no exercise Favours exercise	2	

(1) In the worst-best case scenario we assumed that all missing were dead, meaning that we counted them as events.

Analysis I.3. Comparison I Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 3 Mortality (best-worst case scenario).

Review: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Comparison: I Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome: 3 Mortality (best-worst case scenario)

Study or subgroup	Exercise	No exercise		Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H	,Fixed,95% Cl		M-H,Fixed,95% Cl
Hegbom 2006 (1)	0/15	0/15				Not estimable
Malmo 2016	0/26	0/25				Not estimable
Osbak 2011	0/25	1/24			60.5 %	0.32 [0.01, 7.50]
Pippa 2007	0/22	0/21				Not estimable
Risom 2016	1/105	1/105		- -	39.5 %	1.00 [0.06, 15.78]
Zeren 2016	0/19	0/19				Not estimable
Total (95% CI)	212	209		-	100.0 %	0.59 [0.08, 4.35]
Total events: (Exercise), 2	2 (No exercise)					
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.23$	8, df = 1 (P = 0.59);	l ² =0.0%				
Test for overall effect: Z =	0.52 (P = 0.60)					
Test for subgroup difference	es: Not applicable					
			0.01 0.1	1 10 100		
			Favours no exercise	Favours exercise		

(1) In the best-worst case scenario we assumed that all missing were not dead, meaning that we did not count them as events.

Analysis I.4. Comparison I Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 4 Serious adverse events.

Review: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Comparison: I Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome: 4 Serious adverse events

Study or subgroup	Exercise	No exercise	Ratio(N eve	Risk Ion- ent) Weight	Risk Ratio(Non- event)
	n/N	n/N	M-H,Fixed,9	95% CI	M-H,Fixed,95% CI
Hegbom 2006	0/15	0/15	-	8.3 %	1.00 [0.88, 1.13]
Pippa 2007	1/22	2/21		- 10.4 %	1.06 [0.89, 1.25]
Osbak 2011	0/24	1/23		12.3 %	1.05 [0.93, 1.18]
Malmo 2016	0/26	1/25		13.4 %	1.04 [0.93, 1.16]
Risom 2016	2/105	1/105		55.7 %	0.99 [0.96, 1.02]
Total (95% CI)	192	189	•	100.0 %	1.01 [0.98, 1.05]
Total events: 3 (Exercise),	5 (No exercise)				
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 2.4$	47, df = 4 (P = 0.65)	$ ^2 = 0.0\%$			
Test for overall effect: Z =	= 0.66 (P = 0.5I)				
Test for subgroup differer	nces: Not applicable				
			0.5 0.7 1	1.5 2	
			Favours no exercise	Favours exercise	

Analysis 1.5. Comparison I Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 5 Serious adverse events (worst-best case scenario).

Review: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Comparison: I Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome: 5 Serious adverse events (worst-best case scenario)

Study or subgroup	Exercise	No exercise	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H,Fixed,95% CI		M-H,Fixed,95% CI
Hegbom 2006 (1)	2/15	0/15		8.2 %	5.00 [0.26, 96.13]
Pippa 2007	3/22	2/21		33.6 %	1.43 [0.27, 7.73]
Osbak 2011	1/25	1/24	+	16.7 %	0.96 [0.06, 14.50]
Malmo 2016	0/26	1/25		25.1 %	0.32 [0.01, 7.53]
Risom 2016	2/105	1/105		16.4 %	2.00 [0.18, 21.72]
Total (95% CI)	193	190	-	100.0 %	1.46 [0.54, 3.97]
Total events: 8 (Exercise), 5	5 (No exercise)				
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 1.7$	I, df = 4 (P = 0.79);	$ ^2 = 0.0\%$			
Test for overall effect: $Z =$	0.74 (P = 0.46)				
Test for subgroup difference	es: Not applicable				
			0.01 0.1 1 10 100)	
			Favours no exercise Favours exerc	ise	

(1) In the worst-best case scenario we assumed that all missing had a serious adverse event, meaning that we counted them as events.

Analysis 1.6. Comparison I Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 6 Serious adverse events (best-worst case scenario).

Review: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Comparison: I Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome: 6 Serious adverse events (best-worst case scenario)

Study or subgroup	Exercise	No exercise	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H,Fixed,95% CI		M-H,Fixed,95% Cl
Hegbom 2006 (I)	0/15	0/15			Not estimable
Pippa 2007	1/22	2/21		33.5 %	0.48 [0.05, 4.88]
Osbak 2011	0/25	1/24		25.1 %	0.32 [0.01, 7.50]
Risom 2016	2/105	1/105		16.4 %	2.00 [0.18, 21.72]
Malmo 2016	0/26	1/25		25.0 %	0.32 [0.01, 7.53]
Total (95% CI)	193	190		100.0 %	0.65 [0.19, 2.24]
Total events: 3 (Exercise),	5 (No exercise)				
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 1.3	I, df = 3 (P = 0.73);	l ² =0.0%			
Test for overall effect: $Z =$	0.69 (P = 0.49)				
Test for subgroup difference	ces: Not applicable				
				1	
			0.01 0.1 1 10	100	
			Favours no exercise Favours e	xercise	

(1) In the best-worst case scenario we assumed that all missing did not have a serious adverse event, meaning that we did not count them as events.

Analysis 1.7. Comparison I Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 7 Quality of life, SF-36, Physical Component Score.

Review: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Comparison: I Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome: 7 Quality of life, SF-36, Physical Component Score

Study or subgroup	Exercise	1	No exercise			M Differe	ean nce		Weight	Mean Difference
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)		IV,Random	,95% CI			IV,Random,95% CI
Malmo 2016	26	52.5 (8.8)	25	47.9 (6.8)		-	-		42.6 %	4.60 [0.29, 8.91]
Risom 2016	83	49.5 (8.5)	90	49.5 (8.6)		-			57.4 %	0.0 [-2.55, 2.55]
Total (95% CI)	109		115			-	►		100.0 %	1.96 [-2.50, 6.42]
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	: 7.32; Chi ² =	3.25, df = 1 (P = 0.0	07); I ² =69%							
Test for overall effect:	Z = 0.86 (P =	0.39)								
Test for subgroup diffe	erences: Not aj	oplicable								
					-20	-10 0	10	20		

Favours no exercise Favours exercise

Analysis I.8. Comparison I Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 8 Quality of life, SF-36, Mental Component Score.

Review: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Comparison: I Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome: 8 Quality of life, SF-36, Mental Component Score

Study or subgroup	Exercise	Ν	lo exercise		Dif	Mean ference	Weight	Mean Difference
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	IV,Fix	ed,95% Cl		IV,Fixed,95% CI
Malmo 2016	26	54.2 (8.4)	25	51.9 (10.8)			21.5 %	2.30 [-3.02, 7.62]
Risom 2016	83	53.8 (8.7)	90	51.9 (10)		+	78.5 %	1.90 [-0.89, 4.69]
Total (95% CI)	109		115			-	100.0 %	1.99 [-0.48, 4.46]
Heterogeneity: Chi ² =	0.02, df = 1 ($P = 0.90$; $I^2 = 0.0\%$						
Test for overall effect:	Z = 1.58 (P =	0.11)						
Test for subgroup diffe	erences: Not a	pplicable						
				-	10 -5	0 5	10	
				Favou	rs no exercise	Favours ex	ercise	

Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation (Review)

Copyright © 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Analysis I.9. Comparison I Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 9 Quality of Life, SF-36, Physical Function.

Review: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Comparison: I Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome: 9 Quality of Life, SF-36, Physical Function

Study or subgroup	Exercise	١	No exercise		Mean Difference	Weight	Mean Difference
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	IV,Fixed,95% C		IV,Fixed,95% CI
Osbak 2011	25	77 (16)	24	68 (27)		4.7 %	9.00 [-3.49, 21.49]
Malmo 2016	26	51.8 (6.7)	25	50.1 (6)	-	60.9 %	1.70 [-1.79, 5.19]
Risom 2016	83	87 (13.4)	91	87 (17.7)		34.4 %	0.0 [-4.64, 4.64]
Total (95% CI)	134		140		•	100.0 %	1.46 [-1.26, 4.18]
Heterogeneity: Chi ² =	1.80, df = 2 (P = 0.41; $P = 0.0%$					
Test for overall effect:	Z = 1.05 (P =	0.29)					
Test for subgroup diffe	rences: Not ap	oplicable					
					-20 -10 0 10) 20	

Favours exercise Favours no exercise

Analysis 1.10. Comparison I Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 10 Quality of Life, SF-36, Role-Physical.

Review: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Comparison: I Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome: 10 Quality of Life, SF-36, Role-Physical

Study or subgroup	Exercise	I	No exercise		Mean Difference	Weight	Mean Difference
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	IV,Fixed,95% CI		IV,Fixed,95% CI
Osbak 2011	25	62 (44)	24	66 (42)	4	1.9 %	-4.00 [-28.08, 20.08]
Risom 2016	83	71 (40.7)	91	74.7 (38.6)		7.9 %	-3.70 [-15.51, 8.11]
Malmo 2016	26	51.8 (6.7)	25	48.3 (6)		90.2 %	3.50 [0.01, 6.99]
Total (95% CI)	134		140		•	100.0 %	2.79 [-0.52, 6.10]
Heterogeneity: Chi ² =	1.62, df = 2	$(P = 0.44); ^2 = 0.0\%$					
Test for overall effect:	Z = 1.65 (P =	= 0.099)					
Test for subgroup diffe	erences: Not a	pplicable					
						L	

-20 -10 0 10 20 Favours Exercise Favours No Exercise

Analysis 1.11. Comparison I Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 11 Quality of Life, SF-36, Bodily Pain.

Review: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Comparison: I Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome: II Quality of Life, SF-36, Bodily Pain

Study or subgroup	Exercise	1	No exercise		Diffe	Mean erence	Weight	Mean Difference
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	IV,Rand	om,95% Cl		IV,Random,95% CI
Osbak 2011	25	76 (24)	24	79 (27)			10.0 %	-3.00 [-17.32, 11.32]
Risom 2016	83	84.1 (20.1)	91	86.3 (20.4)			42.2 %	-2.20 [-8.22, 3.82]
Malmo 2016	26	54.4 (9.2)	25	50.3 (10.7)	-		47.8 %	4.10 [-1.39, 9.59]
Total (95% CI)	134		140			-	100.0 %	0.73 [-3.99, 5.45]
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	4.30; Chi ² =	2.61, df = 2 (P = 0.2	27); I ² =23%					
Test for overall effect:	Z = 0.30 (P =	- 0.76)						
Test for subgroup diffe	rences: Not a	pplicable						
					-20 -10	0 10 20)	
				F	avours Exercise	Favours No e	exercise	

Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation (Review)

Copyright © 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Analysis 1.12. Comparison I Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 12 Quality of Life, SF-36, General Health.

Review: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Comparison: I Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome: 12 Quality of Life, SF-36, General Health

Study or subgroup	Exercise		No Exercise		Di	Mean fference	Weight	Mean Difference
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	IV,Fix	ked,95% Cl		IV,Fixed,95% CI
Osbak 2011	25	69 (19)	24	60 (19)				9.00 [-1.64, 19.64]
Malmo 2016	26	53.4 (8.7)	25	47.1 (9.2)			55.2 %	6.30 [1.38, 11.22]
Risom 2016	83	72.2 (19.3)	90	64.4 (23.3)			33.0 %	7.80 [1.44, 14.16]
Total (95% CI)	134		139			•	100.0 %	7.11 [3.46, 10.77]
Heterogeneity: Chi ² =	0.27, df = 2 ($(P = 0.87); I^2 = 0.0\%$	6					
Test for overall effect:	Z = 3.82 (P =	0.00014)						
Test for subgroup diffe	erences: Not a	pplicable						
					-20 -10	0 10	20	
				F	avours Exercise	Favours	No Exercise	

Analysis 1.13. Comparison I Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 13 Quality of Life, SF-36, Vitality.

Review: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Comparison: I Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome: 13 Quality of Life, SF-36, Vitality

Study or subgroup	Exercise	1	No Exercise		Mean Difference	Weight	Mean Difference
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	IV,Fixed,95% CI		IV,Fixed,95% CI
Osbak 2011	25	69 (21)	24	59 (26)		10.0 %	10.00 [-3.27, 23.27]
Malmo 2016	26	55.3 (9.8)	25	49.5 (11.3)		51.9 %	5.80 [-0.01, 11.61]
Risom 2016	83	68.8 (21.3)	91	63.3 (24.4)		38.1 %	5.50 [-1.29, 12.29]
Total (95% CI)	134		140			100.0 %	6.10 [1.91, 10.30]
Heterogeneity: Chi ² =	0.37, df = 2 ($(P = 0.83); I^2 = 0.0\%$					
Test for overall effect:	Z = 2.86 (P =	: 0.0043)					
Test for subgroup diffe	erences: Not a	pplicable					

-10 -5 0 5 10 Favours Exercise Favours No Exercise

Analysis 1.14. Comparison I Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 14 Quality of Life, SF-36, Social Functioning.

Review: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Comparison: I Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome: 14 Quality of Life, SF-36, Social Functioning

Study or subgroup	Exercise	1	No Exercise			D	Mea Differenc	in :e		Weight	Mean Difference
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)		IV,F	ixed,95	% CI			IV,Fixed,95% CI
Osbak 2011	25	92 (15)	24	85 (18)			*			14.7 %	7.00 [-2.30, 16.30]
Malmo 2016	26	51.8 (9.4)	25	49.1 (9.4)						47.8 %	2.70 [-2.46, 7.86]
Risom 2016	83	89 (18)	91	87.6 (21.2)			-			37.5 %	1.40 [-4.43, 7.23]
Total (95% CI)	134		140				•			100.0 %	2.85 [-0.72, 6.41]
Heterogeneity: Chi ² =	: 1.01, df = 2 ($P = 0.60$; $I^2 = 0.0\%$									
Test for overall effect:	Z = 1.56 (P =	0.12)									
Test for subgroup diffe	erences: Not ap	oplicable									
					-100	-50	0	50	100		

Favours Exercise Favours No exercise

Analysis 1.15. Comparison I Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 15 Quality of Life, SF-36, Role Emotional.

Review: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Comparison: I Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome: 15 Quality of Life, SF-36, Role Emotional

Study or subgroup	Exercise		No exercise		D	Mean Aifference	Weight	Mean Difference
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	IV,Fi	ixed,95% Cl		IV,Fixed,95% CI
Osbak 2011	25	77 (37)	25	62 (42)			4.4 %	5.00 [-6.94, 36.94]
Risom 2016	83	83.9 (28.7)	91	83.1 (29.6)		•	28.1 %	0.80 [-7.87, 9.47]
Malmo 2016	26	52.2 (9.4)	25	49.2 (10.9)		-	67.5 %	3.00 [-2.60, 8.60]
Total (95% CI) Heterogeneity: Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Test for subgroup diffe	134 : 1.40, df = 2 (Z = 1.24 (P = erences: Not a	(P = 0.50); I ² =0.0% 0.22) pplicable	141			•	100.0 %	2.91 [-1.69, 7.50]
					-100 -50	0 50	100	

Favours exercise Favours no exercise

Analysis 1.16. Comparison I Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 16 Quality of Life, SF-36, Mental Health.

Review: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Comparison: I Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome: 16 Quality of Life, SF-36, Mental Health

Study or subgroup	Exercise	1	No exercise		Mean Difference	Weight	Mean Difference
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	IV,Fixed,95% CI		IV,Fixed,95% CI
Osbak 2011	25	83 (17)	24	78 (22)		8.2 %	5.00 [-6.04, 16.04]
Malmo 2016	26	55.5 (6.8)	25	55.1 (9.8)		46.5 %	0.40 [-4.25, 5.05]
Risom 2016	83	82.7 (14.7)	91	79.4 (17)	+	45.2 %	3.30 [-1.41, 8.01]
Total (95% CI)	134		140		-	100.0 %	2.09 [-1.08, 5.26]
Heterogeneity: Chi ² =	1.03, df = 2 ($P = 0.60$; $I^2 = 0.0\%$					
Test for overall effect:	Z = 1.29 (P =	0.20)					
Test for subgroup diffe	rences: Not a	pplicable					
						_	

-20 -10 0 10 20 Favours exercise Favours no exercise

Analysis 1.17. Comparison I Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 17 Exercise capacity (VO2 peak).

Review: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Comparison: I Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome: 17 Exercise capacity (VO2 peak)

Study or subgroup Exercise		٢	lo Exercise		Diff	Mean Difference		Mean Difference	
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	IV,Fixe	ed,95% CI		IV,Fixed,95% CI	
Malmo 2016	26	36.4 (9.3)	25	32.1 (8.9)	_		23.0 %	4.30 [-0.70, 9.30]	
Risom 2016	79	24.3 (8.44)	78	20.7 (8.98)			77.0 %	3.60 [0.87, 6.33]	
Total (95% CI)	105		103				100.0 %	3.76 [1.37, 6.15]	
Heterogeneity: Chi ² =	Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.06$, df = 1 (P = 0.81); $I^2 = 0.0\%$								
Test for overall effect:	Z = 3.08 (P =	: 0.0021)							
Test for subgroup diffe	erences: Not a	pplicable							
					-4 -2	0 2 4			
				Favo	urs no exercise	Favours exerci	se		

Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation (Review)

Copyright © 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Analysis 1.18. Comparison I Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 18 Exercise capacity (6MWT).

Review: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Comparison: I Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome: 18 Exercise capacity (6MWT)

Study or subgroup	Exercise		No exercise		Diff	Mean Difference		Mean Difference
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	IV,Ranc	lom,95% Cl		IV,Random,95% CI
Pippa 2007	22	531 (121)	21	380 (97)		_ ∎ →	22.4 %	151.00 [85.60, 216.40]
Osbak 2011	24	569.9 (92.6)	23	454.1 (95.7)			24.3 %	5.80 [61.93, 69.67]
Zeren 2016	17	445.35 (66.24)	16	406.38 (72.59)			25.4 %	38.97 [-8.53, 86.47]
Risom 2016	73	616 (85)	76	602 (101)			27.9 %	14.00 [-15.93, 43.93]
Total (95% CI)	136		136			-	100.0 %	75.76 [14.00, 137.53]
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	= 3325.51; ($Chi^2 = 20.65, df =$	3 (P = 0.00012); l ² =85%				
Test for overall effect:	Z = 2.40 (I	P = 0.016)						
Test for subgroup diffe	erences: No	ot applicable						
u					. .			
					-200 -100	0 100 20	00	

Favours no exercise Favours exercise

Analysis 1.19. Comparison I Exercise versus no exercise, Outcome 19 Exercise capacity (SMD).

Review: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation

Comparison: I Exercise versus no exercise

Outcome: 19 Exercise capacity (SMD)

Study or subgroup	Exercise	Mean(SD)	No exercise	Mean(SD)	Di	Std. Mean fference	Weight	Std. Mean Difference WBandom 95% Cl		
	IN	Tiean(SD)	14	T leali(SD)	TV,I dilu	011,7578 CI		TV;TVaHUUTT,7578 CI		
Hegbom 2006	13	2077 (753)	15	1152 (341)			→ I2.0 %	1.58 [0.71, 2.44]		
Pippa 2007	22	531 (121)	21	380 (97)			→ I5.5 %	1.35 [0.68, 2.02]		
Osbak 2011	24	569.9 (92.6)	23	454.1 (95.7)			- 16.4 %	1.21 [0.58, 1.84]		
Malmo 2016	26	36.4 (9.3)	25	32.1 (8.9)			17.9 %	0.46 [-0.09, 1.02]		
Zeren 2016	17	445.35 (66.24)	16	406.38 (72.59)	-		15.0 %	0.55 [-0.15, 1.25]		
Risom 2016	79	24.3 (8.44)	78	20.7 (8.98)			23.3 %	0.41 [0.09, 0.73]		
Total (95% CI)	181		178			•	100.0 %	0.86 [0.46, 1.26]		
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	0.15; Chi ² =	= 14.16, df = 5 (P =	= 0.01); I ² =65%							
Test for overall effect:	Test for overall effect: $Z = 4.18$ (P = 0.000029)									
Test for subgroup differences: Not applicable										
					-2 -1	0 I	2			
Favours no exercise Favours exercise										

ADDITIONAL TABLES

Table 1. Serious adverse events

	Hegbom 2006	Malmo 2016	Osbak 2011	Pippa 2007	Risom 2016	Total events
Control group	0 events	1 patient: 1 stroke	1 patient: 1 re-ablation	2 patients: 1 retinal embolism 1 deep vein thrombosis	1 patient: 1 died (unrelated to the interven- tion)	5
Exercise group	0 events	0 patients	0 patients	1 patient: 1 retinal embolism	2 patients: 1 died (unrelated to the interven- tion) 1 was hospi- talised while ex- ercise testing	3

Table 1. Serious adverse events (Continued)

Total events 0 1 1	3	3	8
--------------------	---	---	---

Table 2. Health-related quality of life

Instruments used	Hegbom 2006	Malmo 2016	Osbak 2011	Pippa 2007	Risom 2016	Zeren 2016	Total Instruments
Short Form- 36	Х	Х	Х		Х		4
Minnesota Living with Heart Failure questionnaire			Х				1
The Symptoms and Severity checklist	Х						1
Activities of daily living	Х						1
Atrial Fibrilla- tion Symptoms and Severity checklist		x					1
Hospital Anx- iety and De- pression scale					Х		1

APPENDICES

Appendix I. Search strategies

CENTRAL

#1 MeSH descriptor: [Atrial Fibrillation] this term only #2 atrial fibrillation*:ti,ab,kw #3 auricular fibrillation*:ti.ab.kw #4 atrium fibrillation*:ti,ab,kw #5 MeSH descriptor: [Catheter Ablation] this term only #6 atrial ablation*:ti,ab,kw #7 (electric* near/2 ablation*):ti,ab,kw #8 catheter ablation*:ti,ab,kw #9 (radiofrequency near/2 ablation*):ti,ab,kw #10 pulmonary vein isolation*:ti,ab,kw #11 #1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5 or #6 ot #7 or #8 or #9 or #10 #12 MeSH descriptor: [Exercise] explode all trees #13 MeSH descriptor: [Exercise Therapy] explode all trees #14 MeSH descriptor: [Exercise Tolerance] this term only #15 MeSH descriptor: [Sports] explode all trees #16 MeSH descriptor: [Physical Exertion] this term only #17 exercis*:ti,ab,kw #18 sport*:ti,ab,kw #19 MeSH descriptor: [Physical Fitness] this term only #20 MeSH descriptor: [Physical Education and Training] explode all trees #21 (fitness or fitter or fit):ti,ab,kw #22 (muscle* near/3 (train* or activ*)):ti,ab,kw #23 (train* near/5 (strength* or aerobic* or exercise*)):ti,ab,kw #24 ((aerobic or resistance) near/3 (train* or activ*)):ti,ab,kw #25 (physical* near/5 (fit* or train* or therap* or activ* or strength or endur* or exert* or capacit*)):ti,ab,kw #26 ((exercise* or fitness) near/3 (treat* or interven* or program* or train* or physical or activ*)):ti,ab,kw #27 MeSH descriptor: [Exercise Tolerance] this term only #28 (exercis* near/2 (toleran* or capacity)):ti,ab,kw #29 MeSH descriptor: [Rehabilitation] this term only #30 MeSH descriptor: [Activities of Daily Living] this term only #31 MeSH descriptor: [Dance Therapy] this term only #32 MeSH descriptor: [Rehabilitation Centers] this term only #33 rehabilitat*:ti,ab,kw #34 kinesiotherap*:ti,ab,kw #35 danc*:ti,ab,kw #36 walk*:ti,ab,kw #37 run*:ti,ab,kw #38 jog*:ti,ab,kw #39 (("lifestyle" or life-style) near/5 activ*):ti,ab,kw #40 (("lifestyle" or life-style) near/5 physical*):ti,ab,kw #41 MeSH descriptor: [Patient Education as Topic] this term only #42 (patient* near/5 educat*):ti,ab,kw #43 ((lifestyle or life-style) near/5 (interven* or program* or treatment*)):ti,ab,kw #44 MeSH descriptor: [Self Care] this term only #45 (self near/5 (manag* or care or motivate*)):ti,ab,kw #46 MeSH descriptor: [Psychotherapy] explode all trees

#47 psychotherap*:ti,ab,kw
#48 (psycholog* near/5 intervent*):ti,ab,kw
#49 MeSH descriptor: [Counseling] this term only
#50 (counselling or counseling):ti,ab,kw
#51 ((behavior* or behaviour*) near/5 (modify or modificat* or therap* or change)):ti,ab,kw
#52 (psycho-educat* or psychoeducat*):ti,ab,kw
#53 (motivat* near/5 (intervention or interv*)):ti,ab,kw
#54 MeSH descriptor: [Health Education] this term only
#55 (health near/5 educat*):ti,ab,kw
#56 (psychosocial or psycho-social):ti,ab,kw
#57 (cognitive near/2 behav*):ti,ab,kw
#58 #12 or #13 or #14 or #15 or #16 or #17 or #18 or #19 or #20 or #21 or #22 or #23 or #24 or #25 or #26 or #27 or #28 or #29 or #30 or #31 or #32 or #33 or #34 or #35 or #36 or #37 or #38 or #39 or #40 or #41 or #42 or #43 or #44 or #45 or #46 or #47 or #48 or #49 or #50 or #51 or #52 or #54 or #55 or #56 or #57
#59 #11 and #58

MEDLINE Ovid

- 1. Atrial Fibrillation/
- 2. atrial fibrillation*.tw.
- 3. auricular fibrillation*.tw.
- 4. atrium fibrillation*.tw.
- 5. Catheter Ablation/
- 6. atrial ablation*.tw.
- 7. (electric* adj2 ablation*).tw.
- 8. catheter ablation*.tw.
- 9. (radiofrequency adj2 ablation*).tw.
- 10. pulmonary vein isolation*.tw.
- 11. or/1-10
- 12. exp Exercise/
- 13. exp Exercise Therapy/
- 14. Exercise Tolerance/
- 15. exp Sports/
- 16. Physical Exertion/
- 17. exercis*.tw.
- 18. sport*.tw.
- 19. Physical Fitness/
- 20. exp "Physical Education and Training"/
- 21. (fitness or fitter or fit).tw.
- 22. (muscle* adj3 (train* or activ*)).tw.
- 23. (train* adj5 (strength* or aerobic* or exercise*)).tw.
- 24. ((aerobic or resistance) adj3 (train* or activ*)).tw.
- 25. (physical* adj5 (fit* or train* or therap* or activ* or strength or endur* or exert* or capacit*)).tw.
- 26. ((exercise* or fitness) adj3 (treat* or interven* or program* or train* or physical or activ*)).tw.
- 27. Exercise Tolerance/
- 28. (exercis* adj2 (toleran* or capacity)).tw.
- 29. Rehabilitation/
- 30. "Activities of Daily Living"/
- 31. Dance Therapy/
- 32. Rehabilitation Centers/
- 33. rehabilitat*.tw.
- 34. kinesiotherap*.tw.
- 35. danc*.tw.

36. walk*.tw. 37. run*.tw. 38. jog*.tw. 39. (("lifestyle" or life-style) adj5 activ\$).tw. 40. (("lifestyle" or life-style) adj5 physical\$).tw. 41. Patient Education as Topic/ 42. (patient* adj5 educat*).tw. 43. ((lifestyle or life-style) adj5 (interven* or program* or treatment*)).tw. 44. Self Care/ 45. (self adj5 (manag* or care or motivate*)).tw. 46. exp Psychotherapy/ 47. psychotherap*.tw. 48. (psycholog* adj5 intervent*).tw. 49. Counseling/ 50. (counselling or counseling).tw. 51. ((behavior* or behaviour*) adj5 (modify or modificat* or therap* or change)).tw. 52. (psycho-educat* or psychoeducat*).tw. 53. (motivat* adj5 (intervention or interv*)).tw. 54. Health Education/ 55. (health adj5 educat*).tw. 56. (psychosocial or psycho-social).tw. 57. (cognitive adj2 behav*).tw. 58. or/12-57 59.11 and 58 60. randomized controlled trial.pt. 61. controlled clinical trial.pt. 62. randomized.ab. 63. placebo.ab. 64. drug therapy.fs. 65. randomly.ab. 66. trial.ab.

- 67. groups.ab.
- 68. 60 or 61 or 62 or 63 or 64 or 65 or 66 or 67
- 69. exp animals/ not humans.sh.
- 70. 68 not 69
- 71. 59 and 70

Embase Ovid

- 1. Atrial Fibrillation/
- 2. atrial fibrillation*.tw.
- 3. auricular fibrillation*.tw.
- 4. atrium fibrillation*.tw.
- 5. Catheter Ablation/
- 6. atrial ablation*.tw.
- 7. (electric* adj2 ablation*).tw.
- 8. catheter ablation*.tw.
- 9. (radiofrequency adj2 ablation*).tw.
- 10. pulmonary vein isolation*.tw.
- 11. or/1-10
- 12. exp Exercise/
- 13. exp Exercise Therapy/
- 14. Exercise Tolerance/

15. exp Sports/

- 16. Physical Exertion/
- 17. exercis*.tw.
- 18. sport*.tw.
- 19. Physical Fitness/
- 20. exp "Physical Education and Training"/
- 21. (fitness or fitter or fit).tw.
- 22. (muscle* adj3 (train* or activ*)).tw.
- 23. (train* adj5 (strength* or aerobic* or exercise*)).tw.
- 24. ((aerobic or resistance) adj3 (train* or activ*)).tw.
- 25. (physical* adj5 (fit* or train* or therap* or activ* or strength or endur* or exert* or capacit*)).tw.
- 26. ((exercise* or fitness) adj3 (treat* or interven* or program* or train* or physical or activ*)).tw.
- 27. Exercise Tolerance/
- 28. (exercis* adj2 (toleran* or capacity)).tw.
- 29. Rehabilitation/
- 30. "Activities of Daily Living"/
- 31. Dance Therapy/
- 32. Rehabilitation Centers/
- 33. rehabilitat*.tw.
- 34. kinesiotherap*.tw.
- 35. danc*.tw.
- 36. walk*.tw.
- 37. run*.tw.
- 38. jog*.tw.
- 39. (("lifestyle" or life-style) adj5 activ\$).tw.
- 40. (("lifestyle" or life-style) adj5 physical\$).tw.
- 41. Patient Education as Topic/
- 42. (patient* adj5 educat*).tw.
- 43. ((lifestyle or life-style) adj5 (interven* or program* or treatment*)).tw.
- 44. Self Care/
- 45. (self adj5 (manag* or care or motivate*)).tw.
- 46. exp Psychotherapy/
- 47. psychotherap*.tw.
- 48. (psycholog* adj5 intervent*).tw.
- 49. Counseling/
- 50. (counselling or counseling).tw.
- 51. ((behavior* or behaviour*) adj5 (modify or modificat* or therap* or change)).tw.
- 52. (psycho-educat* or psychoeducat*).tw.
- 53. (motivat* adj5 (intervention or interv*)).tw.
- 54. Health Education/
- 55. (health adj5 educat*).tw.
- 56. (psychosocial or psycho-social).tw.
- 57. (cognitive adj2 behav*).tw.
- 58. or/12-57
- 59. 11 and 58
- 60. random\$.tw.
- 61. factorial\$.tw.
- 62. crossover\$.tw.
- 63. cross over\$.tw.
- 64. cross-over\$.tw.
- 65. placebo\$.tw.
- 66. (doubl\$ adj blind\$).tw.
- 67. (singl\$ adj blind\$).tw.

68. assign\$.tw.
69. allocat\$.tw.
70. volunteer\$.tw.
71. crossover procedure/
72. double blind procedure/
73. randomized controlled trial/
74. single blind procedure/
75. 60 or 61 or 62 or 63 or 64 or 65 or 66 or 67 or 68 or 69 or 70 or 71 or 72 or 73 or 74
76. (animal/ or nonhuman/) not human/
77. 75 not 76
78. 59 and 77

PsycINFO Ovid

- 1. Atrial Fibrillation/
- 2. atrial fibrillation*.tw.
- 3. auricular fibrillation*.tw.
- 4. atrium fibrillation*.tw.
- 5. atrial ablation*.tw.
- 6. (electric* adj2 ablation*).tw.
- 7. catheter ablation*.tw.
- 8. (radiofrequency adj2 ablation*).tw.
- 9. pulmonary vein isolation*.tw.
- 10. (or/1-4) or (or/5-9)
- 11. exp Exercise/
- 12. exp Recreation Therapy/
- 13. exp Sports/
- 14. Physical Exertion/
- 15. exercis*.tw.
- 16. sport*.tw.
- 17. Physical Fitness/
- 18. exp "Physical Education and Training"/
- 19. (fitness or fitter or fit).tw.
- 20. (muscle* adj3 (train* or activ*)).tw.
- 21. (train* adj5 (strength* or aerobic* or exercise*)).tw.
- 22. ((aerobic or resistance) adj3 (train* or activ*)).tw.
- 23. (physical* adj5 (fit* or train* or therap* or activ* or strength or endur* or exert* or capacit*)).tw.
- 24. ((exercise* or fitness) adj3 (treat* or interven* or program* or train* or physical or activ*)).tw.
- 25. Exercise Tolerance/
- 26. (exercis* adj2 (toleran* or capacity)).tw.
- 27. Rehabilitation/
- 28. "Activities of Daily Living"/
- 29. Dance Therapy/
- 30. Rehabilitation Centers/
- 31. rehabilitat*.tw.
- 32. kinesiotherap*.tw.
- 33. danc*.tw.
- 34. walk*.tw.
- 35. run*.tw.
- 36. jog*.tw.
- 37. (("lifestyle" or life-style) adj5 activ\$).tw.
- 38. (("lifestyle" or life-style) adj5 physical\$).tw.
- 39. (patient* adj5 educat*).tw.

- 40. ((lifestyle or life-style) adj5 (interven* or program* or treatment*)).tw.
- 41. Self Care/
- 42. (self adj5 (manag* or care or motivate*)).tw.
- 43. exp Psychotherapy/
- 44. psychotherap*.tw.
- 45. (psycholog* adj5 intervent*).tw.
- 46. Counseling/
- 47. (counselling or counseling).tw.
- 48. ((behavior* or behaviour*) adj5 (modify or modificat* or therap* or change)).tw.
- 49. (psycho-educat* or psychoeducat*).tw.
- 50. (motivat* adj5 (intervention or interv*)).tw.
- 51. Health Education/
- 52. (health adj5 educat*).tw.
- 53. (psychosocial or psycho-social).tw.
- 54. (cognitive adj2 behav*).tw.
- 55. 11 or 12 or (or/13-38) or (or/39-54)
- 56. 10 and 55
- 57. random\$.tw.
- 58. factorial\$.tw.
- 59. crossover\$.tw.
- 60. cross-over\$.tw.
- 61. placebo\$.tw.
- 62. (doubl\$ adj blind\$).tw.
- 63. (singl\$ adj blind\$).tw.
- 64. assign\$.tw.
- 65. allocat\$.tw.
- 66. volunteer\$.tw.
- 67. control*.tw.
- 68. "2000".md.
- 69. or/57-68
- 70. 56 and 69

CINAHL EBSCO

S76 S57 AND S75 \$75 \$58 or \$59 or \$60 or \$61 or \$62 or \$63 or \$64 or \$65 or \$66 or \$67 or \$68 or \$69 or \$70 or \$71 or \$72 or \$73 or \$74 S74 TX cross-over* S73 TX crossover* S72 TX volunteer* S71 (MH "Crossover Design") S70 TX allocat* S69 TX control* S68 TX assign* S67 TX placebo* S66 (MH "Placebos") S65 TX random* S64 TX (doubl* N1 mask*) S63 TX (singl* N1 mask*) S62 TX (doubl* N1 blind*) S61 TX (singl* N1 blind*) S60 TX (clinic* N1 trial?) S59 PT clinical trial S58 (MH "Clinical Trials+")
S57 S11 AND S56

S56 S12 OR S13 OR S14 OR S15 OR S16 OR S17 OR S18 OR S19 OR S20 OR S21 OR S22 OR S23 OR S24 OR S25 OR S26 OR \$27 OR \$28 OR \$29 OR \$30 OR \$31 OR \$32 OR \$33 OR \$34 OR \$35 OR \$36 OR \$37 OR \$38 OR \$39 OR \$40 OR \$41 OR \$42 OR \$43 OR \$44 OR \$45 OR \$46 OR \$47 OR \$48 OR \$49 OR \$50 OR \$51 OR \$52 OR \$53 OR \$54 OR \$55 S55 (cognitive N2 behav*) S54 (psychosocial or psycho-social) S53 (health N5 educat*) S52 (MH "Health Education") S51 (motivat* N5 (intervention or interv*)) S50 (psycho-educat* or psychoeducat*) S49 ((behavior* or behaviour*) N5 (modify or modificat* or therap* or change)) S48 (counselling or counseling) S47 (MH "Counseling") S46 (psycholog* N5 intervent*) S45 psychotherap* S44 (MH "Psychotherapy+") S43 (self N5 (manag* or care or motivate*)) S42 (MH "Self Care") S41 ((lifestyle or life-style) N5 (interven* or program* or treatment*)) S40 (patient* N5 educat*) S39 (("lifestyle" or life-style) N5 (activ* or physical*)) S38 jog* S37 run* S36 walk* S35 danc* S34 kinesiotherap* S33 rehabilitat* S32 (MH "Rehabilitation Centers") S31 (MH "Dance Therapy") S30 (MH "Activities of Daily Living") S29 (MH "Rehabilitation") S28 (exercis* N2 (toleran* or capacity)) S27 (MH "Exercise Tolerance") S26 ((exercise* or fitness) N3 (treat* or interven* or program* or train* or physical or activ*)) S25 (physical* N5 (fit* or train* or therap* or activ* or strength or endur* or exert* or capacit*)) S24 ((aerobic or resistance) N3 (train* or activ*)) S23 (train* N5 (strength* or aerobic* or exercise*)) S22 (muscle* N3 (train* or activ*)) S21 (fitness or fitter or fit) S20 (MH "Physical Education and Training") S19 (MH "Physical Fitness") S18 sport* S17 exercis* S16 (MH "Physical Activity") S15 (MH "Sports+") S14 (MH "Exercise Tolerance") S13 (MH "Therapeutic Exercise+") S12 (MH "Exercise+") S11 S1 OR S2 OR S3 OR S4 OR S5 OR S6 OR S7 OR S8 OR S9 OR S10 S10 pulmonary vein isolation* S9 (radiofrequency N2 ablation*) S8 catheter ablation* S7 (electric* N2 ablation*)

Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with a trial fibrillation (Review) Copyright 0 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. S6 atrial ablation* S5 (MH "Catheter Ablation") S4 atrium fibrillation* S3 auricular fibrillation* S2 atrial fibrillation* S1 (MH "Atrial Fibrillation")

Web of Science Thomson Reuters

- # 42 #41 AND #40 # 41 TOPIC: ((random* or blind* or allocat* or assign* or trial* or placebo* or crossover* or cross-over*)) # 40 #39 AND #9 # 39 #38 OR #37 OR #36 OR #35 OR #34 OR #33 OR #32 OR #31 OR #30 OR #29 OR #28 OR #27 OR #26 OR #25 OR #24 OR #23 OR #22 OR #21 OR #20 OR #19 OR #18 OR #17 OR #16 OR #15 OR #14 OR #13 OR #12 OR #11 OR #10 # 38 TOPIC: ((cognitive near/2 behav*)) # 37 TOPIC: ((psychosocial or psycho-social)) # 36 TOPIC: ((health near/5 educat*)) # 35 TOPIC: ((motivat* near/5 (intervention or interv*))) # 34 TOPIC: ((psycho-educat* or psychoeducat*)) # 33 TOPIC: (((behavior* or behaviour*) near/5 (modify or modificat* or therap* or change))) # 32 TOPIC: ((counselling or counseling)) # 31 TOPIC: ((psycholog* near/5 intervent*)) # 30 TOPIC: (psychotherap*) # 29 TOPIC: ((self near/5 (manag* or care or motivate*))) # 28 TOPIC: (((lifestyle or life-style) near/5 (interven* or program* or treatment*))) # 27 TOPIC: ((patient* near/5 educat*)) # 26 TOPIC: ((("lifestyle" or life-style) near/5 physical*)) # 25 TOPIC: ((("lifestyle" or life-style) near/5 activ*)) # 24 TOPIC: (jog*) # 23 TOPIC: (run*) # 22 TOPIC: (walk*) # 21 TOPIC: (danc*) # 20 TOPIC: (kinesiotherap*) # 19 TOPIC: (rehabilitat*) # 18 TOPIC: ((exercis* near/2 (toleran* or capacity))) # 17 TOPIC: (((exercise* or fitness) near/3 (treat* or interven* or program* or train* or physical or activ*))) # 16 TOPIC: ((physical* near/5 (fit* or train* or therap* or activ* or strength or endur* or exert* or capacit*))) # 15 TOPIC: (((aerobic or resistance) near/3 (train* or activ*))) # 14 TOPIC: ((train* near/5 (strength* or aerobic* or exercise*))) # 13 TOPIC: ((muscle* near/3 (train* or activ*))) # 12 TOPIC: ((fitness or fitter or fit)) # 11 TOPIC: (sport*) # 10 TOPIC: (exercis*) # 9 #8 OR #7 OR #6 OR #5 OR #4 OR #3 OR #2 OR #1 # 8 TOPIC: (pulmonary vein isolation*) # 7 TOPIC: ((radiofrequency near/2 ablation*)) # 6 TOPIC: (catheter ablation*) # 5 TOPIC: ((electric* near/2 ablation*)) # 4 TOPIC: (atrial ablation*) # 3 TOPIC: (atrium fibrillation*)
- # 2 TOPIC: (auricular fibrillation*)
- # 1 TOPIC: (atrial fibrillation*)

Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation (Review) Copyright © 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

LILACS Bireme

atrial fibrillation\$ or auricular fibrillation\$ or atrium fibrillation\$ or atrial ablation\$ or electric\$ ablation\$ or catheter ablation\$ or radiofrequency ablation\$ or pulmonary vein isolation\$ [Words] and exercis\$ or sport\$ or fitness or fitter or fit or (muscle\$ and (train\$ or activ\$)) or (train\$ and (strength\$ or aerobic\$ or exercise\$)) or ((aerobic or resistance) and (train\$ or activ\$)) or (physical\$ and (fit\$ or train\$ or therap\$ or activ\$ or strength or endur\$ or exert\$ or capacit\$)) or ((exercise\$ or fitness) and (treat\$ or interven\$ or program\$ or train\$ or physical or activ\$)) or (exercis\$ and (toleran\$ or capacit\$)) or (exercise\$ or fitness) and (treat\$ or walk\$ or run\$ or jog\$ or ((lifestyle or life-style) and (activ\$ or physical\$)) or (patient\$ and educat\$) or (lifestyle or life-style) and (interven\$ or program\$ or treatment\$)) or (self and (manag\$ or care or motivate\$)) or psychotherap\$ or change)) or (psycho-educat\$ or psychoeducat\$) or (motivat\$ and (intervention or interv\$)) and (health and educat\$) or (psycho-social) or (cognitive and behav\$) [Words] and trial\$ or random\$ or blind\$ [Words]

Clinical trial registers

1 atrial fibrillation 2 rehabilitation 3 exercise 1 AND 2 1 AND 3 1 AND 2 AND 3

Adverse effects searches

MEDLINE

- 1. Atrial Fibrillation/
- 2. atrial fibrillation*.tw.
- 3. auricular fibrillation*.tw.
- 4. atrium fibrillation*.tw.
- 5. Catheter Ablation/
- 6. atrial ablation*.tw.
- 7. (electric* adj2 ablation*).tw.
- 8. catheter ablation*.tw.
- 9. (radiofrequency adj2 ablation*).tw.
- 10. pulmonary vein isolation*.tw.
- 11. or/1-10
- 12. exp Exercise/
- 13. exp Exercise Therapy/
- 14. Exercise Tolerance/
- 15. exp Sports/
- 16. Physical Exertion/
- 17. exercis*.tw.
- 18. sport*.tw.
- 19. Physical Fitness/
- 20. exp "Physical Education and Training"/
- 21. (fitness or fitter or fit).tw.
- 22. (muscle* adj3 (train* or activ*)).tw.
- 23. (train* adj5 (strength* or aerobic* or exercise*)).tw.
- 24. ((aerobic or resistance) adj3 (train* or activ*)).tw.
- 25. (physical* adj5 (fit* or train* or therap* or activ* or strength or endur* or exert* or capacit*)).tw.
- 26. ((exercise* or fitness) adj3 (treat* or interven* or program* or train* or physical or activ*)).tw.
- 27. Exercise Tolerance/
- 28. (exercis* adj2 (toleran* or capacity)).tw.
- 29. Rehabilitation/

- 30. "Activities of Daily Living"/
- 31. Dance Therapy/
- 32. Rehabilitation Centers/
- 33. rehabilitat*.tw.
- 34. kinesiotherap*.tw.
- 35. danc*.tw.
- 36. walk*.tw.
- 37. run*.tw.
- 38. jog*.tw.
- 39. (("lifestyle" or life-style) adj5 activ\$).tw.
- 40. (("lifestyle" or life-style) adj5 physical\$).tw.
- 41. Patient Education as Topic/
- 42. (patient* adj5 educat*).tw.
- 43. ((lifestyle or life-style) adj5 (interven* or program* or treatment*)).tw.
- 44. Self Care/
- 45. (self adj5 (manag* or care or motivate*)).tw.
- 46. exp Psychotherapy/
- 47. psychotherap*.tw.
- 48. (psycholog* adj5 intervent*).tw.
- 49. Counseling/
- 50. (counselling or counseling).tw.
- 51. ((behavior* or behaviour*) adj5 (modify or modificat* or therap* or change)).tw.
- 52. (psycho-educat* or psychoeducat*).tw.
- 53. (motivat* adj5 (intervention or interv*)).tw.
- 54. Health Education/
- 55. (health adj5 educat*).tw.
- 56. (psychosocial or psycho-social).tw.
- 57. (cognitive adj2 behav*).tw.
- 58. or/12-57
- 59. 11 and 58
- 60. adverse effects.fs.
- 61. contraindications.fs.
- 62. poisoning.fs.
- 63. toxicity.fs.
- 64. drug effects.fs.
- 65. (toxi* adj2 (effect or effects or reaction* or event or events or outcome*)).tw.
- 66. (adverse* adj2 (effect or effects or reaction* or event or events or outcome*)).tw.
- 67. (side adj3 (effect or effects)).tw.
- 68. (adr or adrs).tw.
- 69. or/60-68
- 70. exp animals/ not humans.sh.
- 71. 69 not 70
- 72. 59 and 71

Embase

- 1. Atrial Fibrillation/
- 2. atrial fibrillation*.tw.
- 3. auricular fibrillation*.tw.
- 4. atrium fibrillation*.tw.
- 5. Catheter Ablation/
- 6. atrial ablation*.tw.
- 7. (electric* adj2 ablation*).tw.
- 8. catheter ablation*.tw.
- 9. (radiofrequency adj2 ablation*).tw.

 $\label{eq:constraint} \begin{array}{l} \mbox{Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with atrial fibrillation (Review) \\ \mbox{Copyright} © 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. \\ \end{array}$

- 10. pulmonary vein isolation*.tw.
- 11. or/1-10
- 12. exp Exercise/
- 13. exp Exercise Therapy/
- 14. Exercise Tolerance/
- 15. exp Sports/
- 16. Physical Exertion/
- 17. exercis*.tw.
- 18. sport*.tw.
- 19. Physical Fitness/
- 20. exp "Physical Education and Training"/
- 21. (fitness or fitter or fit).tw.
- 22. (muscle* adj3 (train* or activ*)).tw.
- 23. (train* adj5 (strength* or aerobic* or exercise*)).tw.
- 24. ((aerobic or resistance) adj3 (train* or activ*)).tw.
- 25. (physical* adj5 (fit* or train* or therap* or activ* or strength or endur* or exert* or capacit*)).tw.
- 26. ((exercise* or fitness) adj3 (treat* or interven* or program* or train* or physical or activ*)).tw.
- 27. Exercise Tolerance/
- 28. (exercis* adj2 (toleran* or capacity)).tw.
- 29. Rehabilitation/
- 30. "Activities of Daily Living"/
- 31. Dance Therapy/
- 32. Rehabilitation Centers/
- 33. rehabilitat*.tw.
- 34. kinesiotherap*.tw.
- 35. danc*.tw.
- 36. walk*.tw.
- 37. run*.tw.
- 38. jog*.tw.
- 39. (("lifestyle" or life-style) adj5 activ\$).tw.
- 40. (("lifestyle" or life-style) adj5 physical\$).tw.
- 41. Patient Education as Topic/
- 42. (patient* adj5 educat*).tw.
- 43. ((lifestyle or life-style) adj5 (interven* or program* or treatment*)).tw.
- 44. Self Care/
- 45. (self adj5 (manag* or care or motivate*)).tw.
- 46. exp Psychotherapy/
- 47. psychotherap*.tw.
- 48. (psycholog* adj5 intervent*).tw.
- 49. Counseling/
- 50. (counselling or counseling).tw.
- 51. ((behavior* or behaviour*) adj5 (modify or modificat* or therap* or change)).tw.
- 52. (psycho-educat* or psychoeducat*).tw.
- 53. (motivat* adj5 (intervention or interv*)).tw.
- 54. Health Education/
- 55. (health adj5 educat*).tw.
- 56. (psychosocial or psycho-social).tw.
- 57. (cognitive adj2 behav*).tw.
- 58. or/12-57
- 59. 11 and 58
- 60. ae.fs.
- 61. to.fs.
- 62. co.fs.

 63. si.fs.
64. (toxi* adj2 (effect or effects or reaction* or event or events or outcome*)).tw.
65. (adverse* adj2 (effect or effects or reaction* or event or events or outcome*)).tw.
66. (side adj3 (effect or effects)).tw.
67. (adr or adrs).tw.
68. adverse drug reaction/
69. or/60-68
70. (animal/ or nonhuman/) not human/
71. 69 not 70
72. 59 and 71

Appendix 2. Description of the bias risk domains

Generation of random sequence

• Low risk of bias: Sequence generation was achieved using computer-generated random numbers or a table of random numbers. Drawing lots, tossing a coin, shuffling cards, and throwing dice were adequate if performed by an independent adjudicator, or the method was unlikely to introduce selection bias.

• Uncertain risk of bias: Insufficient information to assess whether the method used could cause bias.

• High risk of bias: The method used was improper and likely to be confounding (e.g. the sequence generation was not random).

Allocation concealment

• Low risk of bias: The method used probably did not cause bias on the final observed effect (e.g. allocation was controlled by a central and independent randomisation unit).

• Uncertain risk of bias: There was not enough information to assess whether the method used could cause bias on the estimate of effect.

• High risk of bias: The method used probably did cause bias on the final observed effect (e.g. the allocation sequence was known to the investigators).

Blinding of participants and personnel

• Low risk of bias: Neither the patient nor the personnel were aware to which group the patient was allocated and which intervention they received.

• Uncertain risk of bias: There was insufficient information to assess whether the patients or the personnel were blinded to the intervention.

• High risk of bias: Neither the patients nor the personnel were blinded to the intervention.

Due to the type of intervention, we did expect a high level of bias for this domain. This was applied to all studies, as it was impossible to blind patients when the intervention consisted of physical exercise that may have included a psycho-educational intervention.

Blinding of outcome assessment

• Low risk of bias: The trial investigators performing the outcome assessments, analyses, and calculations were blinded to the treatment allocation and this was described.

- Uncertain risk of bias: The procedure of blinding was insufficiently described.
- High risk of bias: Blinding was not performed.

Performance bias

• Low risk of bias: Any co-interventions were delivered equally across intervention and control groups.

• Uncertain risk of bias: There was insufficient information to assess whether co-interventions were present or equally delivered across groups, which could put the trial at a risk of bias.

• High risk of bias: The co-interventions were not delivered equally across intervention and control groups.

Incomplete outcome data

• Low risk of bias: The number and reasons for dropouts and withdrawals were described and valid methods were used to handle missing data, e.g. multiple imputations.

• Uncertain risk of bias: The trial gave the impression that there were no dropouts or withdrawals, but this was not sufficiently described.

• High risk of bias: The crude estimate of effects was biased if the effects were concluded on missing or incomplete data (e.g. dropouts or withdrawals), and the methods used to handle missing data were unsatisfactory, e.g. last observation carried forward.

Selective outcome reporting

• Low risk of bias: All the primary and clinically relevant outcomes of the trial have been reported, and the hierarchy of the outcomes was documented in a protocol before launch of randomisation.

• Uncertain risk of bias: Not all primary or clinically relevant outcomes were reported, or were not reported fully, or it was unclear whether data on these outcomes were reported or not.

• High risk of bias: Not all primary or clinically relevant outcomes were reported, or there was incongruence between the original protocol and the outcome measures used in the results.

For-profit bias

• Low risk of bias: The trial was free of industry sponsorship or other support from a for-profit organisation that may have an interest in a given result.

• Uncertain risk of bias: it was unclear how the trial was funded.

• High risk of bias: The trial was sponsored by the industry or had received other support from a for-profit organisation that may have had an interest in a given result.

In addition to the above, we also assessed whether studies had undertaken intention-to-treat analyses, and whether there was balance in baseline characteristics between the intervention and control groups.

Intention-to-treat analysis

• Low risk of bias: The trial reported the analyses were conducted according to an intention-to-treat analysis, which included all the principles of such analysis, e.g. keeping participants in the intervention groups to which they were randomised, regardless of the intervention they actually received; outcome data were measured on all or the majority of participants (i.e. more than 90% of those randomised), or included imputation of all missing data in the analysis, using appropriate methodology, e.g. multiple imputation.

• Uncertain risk of bias: it was unclear if and how the investigators performed an intention-to-treat analysis.

• High risk of bias: the trial did not include an intention-to-treat analysis, there was a substantive loss of outcome data (e.g. greater than 20%), and analyses were performed according to imputation methods known to create bias, such as last observation carried forward.

Groups balanced at baseline

• Low risk of bias: Characteristics of the participants in the intervention and control groups were reported to be comparable before the start of intervention, or could be judged to be comparable (e.g. information reported in Table 1) for the main prognostic factors.

• Uncertain risk of bias: It was not reported whether the participants' characteristics between groups were balanced at baseline and there was inadequate information reported to assess this.

• High risk of bias: There was evidence of substantive imbalance in the baseline characteristics of the intervention and control groups for the main prognostic factors.

Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with a trial fibrillation (Review) Copyright 0 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

SSR drafted the review with supervision by RT, JL and CG. SSR and PPJ identified the included trials, extracted data and assessed bias from the trials, SKB checked extracted data and bias assessments. Analysis was primarily done by SSR, but with extensive assistance from KLS, CG, JL and RT. All authors have revised and contributed to the drafting of the review, and all have approved the final version of the review for publication.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Signe S Risom, Selina K Berg, Kirstine L Sibilitz, Pernille Palm Johansen, Christian Gluud, Jane Lindschou, Jesper Hastrup Svendsen, and Ann-Dorthe Zwisler are involved in conducting three randomised trials, investigating the effect of cardiac rehabilitation for 1) people with atrial fibrillation treated with radiofrequency ablation, 2) people treated for infective endocarditis, and 3) people after heart valve surgery; and one trial about sexual rehabilitation.

Rod S Taylor is an author on a number of other Cochrane cardiac rehabilitation reviews and is currently the co-chief investigator on the programme of research with the overarching aims of developing and evaluating a home-based cardiac rehabilitation intervention for people with heart failure and their carers (PGfAR RP-PG-0611-12004).

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• The Heart Centre at the University Hospital Rigshospitalet and Metropolitan University College, Denmark.

External sources

- The Danish Strategic Research Foundation and The Lundbeck Foundation, Denmark.
- National Institute for Health Research, via Cochrane Infrastructure, UK.

The views and opinions expressed therein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the Systematic Reviews Programme, NIHR, NHS or the Department of Health

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

1. Under control intervention we added the following point: 'Any other type of cardiac rehabilitation programme, as long as it does not include a physical exercise element.' The point was added to include a comprehensive answer to the objectives.

2. Under Assessment of risk of bias in included studies we added the following risk of bias domains: 'Intention to treat analysis' and 'balance in baseline characteristics between intervention and control groups'. We then defined the bias components as "low risk of bias", "uncertain risk of bias" and "high risk of bias".

3. Summary of Findings table: We planned to include primary outcomes. In the final review we have also included exercise capacity, a secondary outcome.

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

*Qigong; *Resistance Training; Atrial Fibrillation [mortality; *rehabilitation]; Cardiac Rehabilitation [adverse effects; *methods]; Exercise Therapy [adverse effects; *methods]; Exercise Tolerance; Quality of Life; Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic

MeSH check words

Adult; Humans